PREDICTING PATIENT-TO-PATIENT VARIABILITY IN PROTEOLYTIC ACTIVITY AND BREAST CANCER PROGRESSION

A Thesis Presented to The Academic Faculty

by

Keon-young Park

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in the Wallace H. Coulter Department of Biomedical Engineering

> Georgia Institute of Technology December 2014 Copyright©Keon-young Park 2014

PREDICTING PATIENT-TO-PATIENT VARIABILITY IN PROTEOLYTIC ACTIVITY AND BREAST CANCER PROGRESSION

Approved by:

Dr. Manu O. Platt, Advisor Department of Biomedical Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology

Dr. Edward Botchwey Department of Biomedical Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology

Dr. Michael Davis Department of Biomedical Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology Dr. Greg Gibson School of Biology Georgia Institute of Technology

Dr. Melissa Kemp Department of Biomedical Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology

Date Approved: 28 August 2014

S.D.G.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Manu Platt, who convinced me to studying cells, proteases and signaling pathways, things that I had vowed not to work with. I remember the very first time I met Dr. Platt in an interview, and he laughed at something (probably me!) so hard and so loud that he alternated between laughing and coughing for some time. This energy and undying enthusiasm pulled me through many days and nights of staring at tables and PLSR plots and repeating experiments. I am very grateful for his patience, understanding and genuine interest in not only teaching me to be an independent scientist but a mature human being and a professional as well as a curious and responsible citizen. Thank you for giving me opportunities to truly experience how science makes the world a smaller, closely connected place. I could not have asked for a better advisor or lab environment, and I hope that I will be able to one day lead a research group where everyone enjoys each others company and excited about what they do, most of the time.

I would like to thank my committee members for their continuous interest in my work, for their generosity with their time, for being reasonable but rigorous, and for their guidance. Id like to thank Dr. Botchwey for his expertise on all things macrophage, for pushing me to use precise language and to be clear with my explanations and reasoning. Id like to thank Dr. Davis for being my unbiased advocate, for his enthusiasm for science, and for all the letters he wrote for me. They were not in vain after all! Id like to thank Dr. Gibson for his expertise in large-data science, for his genuine interest in my project, and for your sharp but warm questions during our discussions. Lastly, Id like to thank Dr. Melissa Kemp for her guidance on multivariate modeling, for asking me tough questions, and for being a role model as a successful woman scientist and a mother.

As much as I am excited to be moving onto the next stage of my medical scientist training, I am incredibly sad to leave everyone in the Platt lab. I could not have asked for a better lab. I have enjoyed the lab singing and dancing sessions (well, at least watching them), the potlucks, BBQs and dinners we had, the girl-talk (sorry, Phil!), the medical questions I was asked that I could not help with, our trips to Italy and South Africa, all the birthdays we celebrated and all of our odd-food allergies and preferences. Graduate school can be draining but you all certainly made it more fun that not, and I never dreaded coming to the lab because of you all. Let my escape be hope for everyone!

Lastly, I would like to thank my family and my friends whom I consider as part of my family for your support in every aspect of my life, for your prayers and encouragement, especially Paola, Irene, Linda and Fr. Tim. Thank you to my parents for their unconditional support and sacrifice and for being great role models as a physician and a physician-scientist. Thank you to my sister, Keon-min Park, who one day will become a brilliant surgeon, for getting excited about science and medicine with me. And to my long time friend and fianc Jonathan, thank you for your patience, for your encouragement and continuous support for the things I love to do.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DE	DIC	ATION	iii
AC	KNO	OWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIS	T O	F TABLES	x
LIS	T O	F FIGURES	xi
SU	MM.	ARY	iii
Ι	INTRODUCTION		
	1.1	Interpatient variability in breast cancer	1
	1.2	A need for personalized medicine	2
	1.3	Roadmap to personalized medicine: considering possibility versus reality	3
	1.4	Macrophages, osteoclasts and cathepsins in cancer	4
	1.5	Kinase signaling network in understanding patient-specific cell behavior	7
	1.6	Partial least square regression (PLSR)	8
		1.6.1 Use of PLSR in biology	8
II	SPE	CIFIC AIMS AND HYPOTHESES	12
	2.1	Aim 1. Predict patient-specific cathepsin activity of monocyte-derived macrophages and osteoclasts using multivariate analysis of phosphokinases	12
	2.2	Aim 2: Identify mechanisms for patient variability in cathepsin-mediated disease outcomes.	12
III	DO DEI WI DIF	NOR SPECIFIC PROTEOLYTIC ACTIVITY OF MONOCYTE RIVED MACROPHAGES AND OSTEOCLASTS PREDICTED TH TEMPORAL KINASE ACTIVATION STATES DURING FERENTIATION	- 14
	3.1	Introduction	14
	3.2	Methods	16
		3.2.1 THP-1 Cell Culture	16
		3.2.2 Primary monocyte isolation and differentiation	16
		3.2.3 TRAP Histological Staining	17

		3.2.4	Flow Cytometry	17
		3.2.5	Cell morphology measurements	18
		3.2.6	Kinase phosphorylation analysis with Bioplex assays	18
		3.2.7	Partial least square regression (PLSR) analysis	18
		3.2.8	Multiplex cathepsin zymography	19
	3.3	Result	s	19
		3.3.1	THP-1 monocyte differentiation into macrophages or osteo- clasts is encoded in temporal kinase activation states	19
		3.3.2	Primary monocyte-derived macrophages and osteoclasts from healthy donors exhibit extensive morphological variability	23
		3.3.3	Donor-to-donor variability in cell morphology is encoded in temporal kinase activation states of the differentiating mono- cytes	24
		3.3.4	Cathepsin proteolytic activity of differentiated macrophages and osteoclasts reflect donor-to-donor variability	26
		3.3.5	Donor-specific cathepsin proteolytic activity of monocyte-derived macrophages and osteoclasts can be predicted	31
	3.4	Discus	sion	31
	3.5	Conclu	usions	40
IV	DO CA	NOR-7 FHEPS	FO-DONOR VARIABILITY IN MACROPHAGE- AND SIN-MEDIATED BREAST CANCER CELL INVASION	42
	4.1	Introd	uction	42
	4.2	Mater	ials and Methods	43
		4.2.1	Primary monocyte isolation and differentiation	43
		4.2.2	Multiplex cathepsin zymography	43
		4.2.3	Measurements of cystatin C	44
		4.2.4	Collagen invasion assay	44
		4.2.5	Kinase phosphorylation analysis	45
		4.2.6	Partial least square regression analysis	45
	4.3	Result	·S	46

		4.3.1	Donor-to-Donor variability in macrophage cathepsin activity and cystatin C level underlie interdonor variability in cancer cell invasion	46
		4.3.2	JNK inhibition reduces macrophage cathepsin activity and cystatin C level specifically among the subset of donors with high cathepsin activity	47
		4.3.3	JNK inhibition reduced MDM-mediated cancer cell invasion for highly invasive donors	50
		4.3.4	JNK inhibition reduces interdonor variability in macrophage cathepsin activity	50
		4.3.5	JNK inhibition selectively reduces cathepsin activity and invasion for donors with JNK^{low} monocytes	52
	4.4	Discus	sion	52
V	PRO INT IZA	OTEO CERPA TION	LYTIC PROFILE OF M1/M2 MACROPHAGES AND TIENT VARIABILITY IN MACROPHAGE POLAR-	57
	5.1	Introd	uction	57
	5.2	Materi	ials and Methods	58
		5.2.1	Primary monocyte isolation, differentiation and polarization .	58
		5.2.2	Flow cytometry	59
		5.2.3	Multiplex cathepsin zymography	59
	5.3	Result	s	60
		5.3.1	Interpatient variability in expression of M1/M2 phenotypic markers	60
		5.3.2	IL-4 stimulation increases both mannose receptor (M2 marker) and CCR7 expression level (M1 marker)	60
		5.3.3	M2 macrophages have higher cathepsin V and S activity; M1 macrophages have higher cathepsin L activity	63
		5.3.4	IFN- γ stimulation increases cystatin C level	63
	5.4	Discus	sion	63
VI	VA PA	RIABI FIENT	LITY IN MONOCYTE CATHEPSIN ACTIVITY AMON 'S WITH BREAST CANCER	۹G 67
	6.1	Introd	uction	67

6.2	Materi	ials and Methods	68
	6.2.1	Patients	68
	6.2.2	Primary monocyte isolation	68
	6.2.3	Multiplex cathepsin zymography	69
	6.2.4	Detection of CD68	69
	6.2.5	Kinase phosphorylation analysis	69
6.3	Result	s	70
	6.3.1	Interpatient variability in kinase activation signatures and cathep- sin activity of circulating monocytes from breast cancer patients	70
	6.3.2	Interpatient variability in cathepsin activity and number of macrophages in non-cancerous breast tissues from female patients with breast cancer	72
6.4	Discus	sion \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	72
VII DISCUSSIONS			
VIIICO	NCLU	SIONS	81
REFERENCES			

LIST OF TABLES

1	Variable importance of projection (VIP) for macrophage diameter and	
	osteoclast diameter and number of nuclei	28
2	VIPs for cell-associated cathepsin activity of macrophages and osteoclasts	36

LIST OF FIGURES

1	Cathepsins in diseases	9
2	A schematic of cue-signal-response (CSR) paradigm	9
3	PLSR data matrix	11
4	Multivariate analysis of kinase signals of THP-1 monocytes predicts and distinguishes macrophage and osteoclast differentiation outcomes	21
5	Phenotypic variability of macrophages and osteoclasts derived from peripheral blood monocytes	25
6	Donor-to-donor variability in macrophage and osteoclast differentiation outcomes of cell diameter and number of nuclei is captured in kinase activation state of differentiating monocytes	27
7	A priori predictions of differentiated morphologies	29
8	Cathepsin proteolytic profiles of differentiated macrophages and osteo- clasts reflect donor-to-donor variability	32
9	Cathepsin proteolytic profiles of differentiated macrophages and osteo- clasts in assay buffer, pH 6	33
10	Multivariate analysis of kinase activation successfully predicted donor- specific cathepsin proteolytic activity of monocyte derived macrophages and osteoclasts	34
11	Multivariate analysis of kinase activation was not highly predictive of secreted cathepsin proteolytic activity of donor monocyte derived macrophages and osteoclasts.	35
12	Interdonor variability in cancer cell invasion is mediated by donor-to- donor variability in macrophage cathepsin activity and cystatin C level	48
13	JNK inhibition reduces macrophage cathepsin activity and cystatin C level specifically among subset of donors with high cathepsin activity	49
14	JNK inhibition reduced MDM-mediated cancer cell invasion for highly invasive donors	51
15	JNK inhibition reduces donor-to-donor variability in macrophage cathep- sin activity	53
16	JNK inhibition reduces macrophage cathepsin activity and cancer cell invasion among donors with p-JNKlow monocytes	54
17	Interpatient variability in expression of M1/M2 macrophage markers.	61

18	IL-4 stimulation increases mannose receptor and CCR7 expression level but decrease CD163 expression	62
19	M2 macrophages have higher cathepsin V and S activity; M1 macrophages have higher cathepsin L activity	64
20	IFN-g stimulation (promoting M1 polarization) increases cystatin C level	65
21	Interpatient variability in monocyte cathepsin activity and kinase ac- tivation signatures among patients with breast cancer.	71
22	Interpatient variability in cathepsin activity and number of macrophages in non-cancerous breast tissues from female patients with breast cancer	73

SUMMARY

About one in eight women in the United States will develop breast cancer over the course of her lifetime. To make matters worse, patient-to-patient variability in disease progression continues to complicate clinical decisions in diagnosis and treatment for breast cancer patients. Early detection of tumors is a key factor influencing patient survival, and advancements in diagnostic and imaging techniques has allowed clinicians to spot smaller sized lesions. There has also been an increase in premature treatments of non-malignant lesions because there is no clear way to predict whether these lesions will become invasive over time. Patient variability due to genetic polymorphisms has been investigated, but studies on variability at the level of cellular activity have been extremely limited. An individuals biochemical milieu of cytokines, growth factors, and other stimuli contain a myriad of cues that pre-condition cells and induce patient variability in response to tumor progression or treatment.

Circulating white blood cells called monocytes respond to these cues and enter tissues to differentiate into monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs) and osteoclasts that produce cysteine cathepsins, powerful extracellular matrix proteases. Cathepsins have been mechanistically linked to accelerated tumor growth and metastasis. This study aims to elucidate the variability in disease progression among patients by examining the variability of protease production from tissue-remodeling macrophages and osteoclasts. Since most extracellular cues initiate multiple signaling cascades that are interconnected and dynamic, this current study uses a systems biology approach known as cue-signal-response (CSR) paradigm to capture this complexity comprehensively. The novel and significant finding of this study is that we have identified donorto-donor variability in disease modifying cysteine cathepsin activities in macrophages and osteoclasts. This is the first study that has explicitly and extensively investigated inter-donor variability in cellular proteolytic activity and predicted the donor-specific cathepsin activity with greater than 90% predictability. This study applied this novel finding to the context of tumor invasion and showed that variability in tumor associated macrophage cathepsin activity and their inhibitor cystatin C level mediates variability in cancer cell invasion. Furthermore, by inhibiting JNK activation of c-Jun, a kinase that has been linked to increase in cathepsin activity, and those individuals whose macrophages had the highest cathepsin activity and the greatest invasive potential saw the greatest reduction in these outcomes. Monocytes from these individuals had low level of JNK activation.

These findings help to provide a minimally invasive way to identify individuals with particularly high remodeling capabilities. This could be used to give insight into the risk for tumor invasion and develop a personalized therapeutic regime to maximize efficacy and chance of disease free survival.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

About one in eight women in the United States will develop breast cancer over the course of her life time. [142] However, patient-to-patient variability in disease progression continues to complicate clinical decisions in diagnosis and treatment for patients.[179, 152, 27, 40, 153, 180, 205] Although advancement in diagnostic and imaging techniques has led to an increase in early detection of breast cancer, this increase is also accompanied by a downside of premature treatment of non-malignant lesions, because there is no clear way to predict whether these lesions will become invasive over time. Patient variability due to genetic polymorphisms has been investigated [71, 61], but studies on variability at the cellular proteolytic activity level have been extremely limited.[47] An individuals biochemical milieu of cytokines, growth factors, and other stimuli contain a myriad of cues that pre-condition cells and induce patient variability in response to disease progression or treatment. The focus of this work is on investigating this patient variability at the cellular activity level and elucidating the underlying mechanism for the variability in order to develop personalized medicine strategies for tissue remodeling diseases such as cancer and cardiovascular diseases.

1.1 Interpatient variability in breast cancer

A recent study showed that the incidence of breast cancer overdiagnosis may be as high as 30%.[11] Because currently, there is no good method to predict invasive potential of non-malignant lesions, some women choose to undergo radical mastectomy to prevent malignant progression. In fact, the lack of ways to predict patient-specific disease potential and rate of progression is not confined to breast cancer, but extends to other serious and prevalent illnesses including other cancers and cardiovascular diseases.

Advances in genomic analysis have lead to discovery of many genetic markers that predispose a person to certain diseases with high risk factors, such as the BRCA1 and BRCA2 gene mutation for breast and ovarian cancer. Although 70% percent of women with these mutations do develop cancer, 30% do not. Various environmental and other molecular modifiers affect risk predictions.[136] A number of studies that identified vast intratumoral heterogeneity within one patient further multiplies the complexity of determining prognosis and treatment regimens. [161, 53, 144, 8] It is clear that a one-size-fits-all approach of diagnosis and treatment is not the most effective or cost-efficient way to treat and eliminate multifactorial diseases. There is clearly a need for a personalized approach.

1.2 A need for personalized medicine

Physicians have explored the idea of personalized medicine by taking a trial-anderror approach to find best course of treatments for individual patients.[41] In more systematic ways, n=1 or single subject clinical trials have been conducted since the since 1986.[63, 64, 98, 79] In these studies, each patient was his or her own control and the outcomes of varying treatment strategies were compared to the control group. Although these approaches showed efficacy, it was time-consuming and patients underwent various trials before finding the best treatment. The ultimate goal of personalized medicine is to avoid this trial-and-error period and to be able to predict disease progression, optimized treatment regimen, and the outcomes *a priori* for each patient. In the field of pharmacology, improved understanding in biochemistry, molecular biology, and pharmacodynamics combined with advancement of computational science has allowed effective rational drug design. Although the laws that govern human body are complex, new readily available personalized genomic and proteomic information as well as computational and experimental tools to process and integrate a large quantify of data efficiently, will allow us to revisit the idea of n=1methodologies to treat patients.

1.3 Roadmap to personalized medicine: considering possibility versus reality

As we discussed briefly earlier, genetic predisposition is just that, a genetic tendency or possibility to develop certain diseases. Since Francis Crick described the idea of the central dogma of molecular biology where genetic information flows from DNA to RNA to protein [29], scientists have found a number of ways that provided exceptions to the rule from epigenetic changes to regulations at the protein level. When determining a persons chance of developing an invasive breast cancer from the initial overgrowth, what needs to be considered is not only their genetic risks but also cellular effectors namely proteases that execute the pathogenesis and disease progression. Unlike genetic variability among individuals, studies on variability in cellular proteolytic activities has been extremely limited.[47]

Cysteine cathepsin proteases are potent collagenases and elastases whose expression and activities are tightly regulated at multiple points along the central dogma. Of particular interest to this current study occurs after translation. Like many other protease families, cathepsins are synthesized as inactive precursors (procathepsins) and to be active, cleavage of a propeptide occurs by other proteases or through autocatalytic mechanisms.[23, 129, 132, 196] Once active, cathepsin proteolytic activity is regulated by environmental factors such as temperature, pH, and oxidative potential. Cathepsins are optimally active at acidic pH, and prefer reducing environments for the SH group of the active site cysteine to participate in the nucleophilic attack that cleaves peptide bonds.[149, 33] Finally, the cystatins are a family of cysteine cathepsin inhibitors that regulate and inhibit intra- and extracellular cathepsin activity.[128, 190, 78, 192, 194] Taken together, *in vivo*, cathepsins exist as a system of relatively short-lived enzymes working simultaneously on multiple substrates, both intra- and extra-cellularly.[118] We have shown that there are appreciable patient-topatient variability in the amount of active cysteine cathepsin protease in monocytederived macrophages and osteoclasts[155] and in cystatin C level of macrophages. As it will be discuss further, cysteine cathepsins play central mechanistic roles in cancer and cardiovascular diseases. These findings emphasize the need to investigate patient variability at the level of active proteases for personalized diagnosis and treatments.

1.4 Macrophages, osteoclasts and cathepsins in cancer

Monocytes are circulating white blood cells that respond to milieu of cytokines, growth factors, and other stimuli, and enter tissues to differentiate into monocytederived macrophages (MDMs) and osteoclasts. They actively participate in tissue remodeling by producing cysteine cathepsins. Cathepsins produced by macrophages and osteoclasts have been mechanistically linked to accelerated tumor growth and metastasis.[56, 138, 197, 112, 167] The variability in patients cathepsin protease production by MDMs and osteoclasts due to the varying biochemical stimuli can be employed to elucidate the variability in disease progression that involves cathepsins.

Cysteine cathepsins are included in the papain family of proteases that comprises 11 members denoted by letters: cathepsins B, C, F, H, K, L, V, O, S, W, and Z (or X). In humans, cathepsins were first identified in lysosomes for their role in protein turnover, but are now known to play functional roles in other cellular compartments and even in the extracellular space after secretion.[16, 23, 38, 194] Cathepsins are optimally active in slightly acidic and reducing environments. This is one benefit for personalized medicine in that they are relegated to specific cell types and subcellular compartments under healthy conditions, but then are turned on in different cells and cellular subcompartments during disease, lending them to being useful biomarkers.[177, 163, 60] As an example, cathepsin K is the most potent human collagenase[51] and was identified in osteoclasts, where it is key for bone resorption. Cathepsin K is now known to be expressed in multiple cell types including macrophages, fibroblasts, dendritic cells, chondrocytes, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, and transformed epithelial cells in diseased conditions.[19, 188, 69, 20, 162]

Other cathepsins of interest for personalized medicine include L, S, and V, which are in the same subclade as cathepsin K. They too have limited cell-specific expression under healthy conditions but get turned on in disease conditions in other cell types.[163, 208] Along with cathepsin K, they can be secreted under disease conditions as well and have been implicated in extracellular matrix degradation in pathological disease progression.[42] Cathepsins K, S, and V are all strong elastases, with cathepsin L having mild collagenase activity.[208, 42, 108]

Until recently, many studies have focused on identifying characteristics of cancer cells themselves. However, it has become clear that tumor microenvironment, which encompasses tumor cells, stromal cells, and recruited immune cells, which include tumor associated macrophages (TAMs), play crucial roles in determining behavior of cancer cells.[111, 43, 49, 28] TAMs that are differentiated from circulating monocytes promote angiogenesis [102, 103, 104, 37, 165, 131], tumor growth[103], invasion, and metastasis[109] through secretion of cytokines to coordinate tumor-promoting immune responses[6, 175, 120, 123] as well as through secretion of tissue-remodeling cathepsin proteases.[80, 55]

In tumor tissues, cathepsins are highly upregulated in both cancer cells and TAMs. Although cathepsins were first discovered in lysosomes, they are now known to be secreted by different cell types including macrophages and osteoclasts.[206, 50] In cancer cells, there is increase in both intracellular and secreted cathepsin activity and this increase is regulated at the transcriptional, translational, and post-translational level. *In vivo* studies on breast cancer have shown that cathepsins L and K promote invasion [90], and cathepsin B promotes tumor growth, invasion and metastasis to bone.[203] Recently, it was shown that loss of BRCA1 tumor-suppressor gene activates cathepsin L-mediated degradation of 53BP1, which then allows cells to bypass cellular check points and promotes tumor growth.[62] Cathepsins K and L are shown to be elevated in ductal carcinoma *in situ* (DCIS).[4] In addition, it has been shown that cathepsin secretion by cancer cells can be induced by interaction with extracellular matrix (ECM) protein such as collagen I.[160]

Cathepsins secreted by infiltrating tumor-associated macrophages have also been shown to promote cancer cell invasion[197] and to blunt effectiveness of chemotherapy against breast cancer cells.[172] For prostate cancer, cathepsin B was shown to promote angiogenesis and invasion[143] and cathepsin S secreted by infiltrating macrophages were associated with poorly differentiated tumors and castrationresistant tumors.[110] For pancreatic cancer, cathepsins B and S have been shown to promote angiogenesis and tumor formation[57] and cathepsins B and L promote cancer cell proliferation and growth.[57, 200] Lack of cystatin C, an endogenous inhibitor of cysteine cathepsins, increased the number of pre-malignant lesions. On the other hand, tumor metastasis to lung but not to liver, two of common metastatic sites, was reduced when cystatin C was overexpressed. Taken together, specialized role of individual cathepsins in multiple stages of tumor progression and by different cell types provide opportunities for tailored prognosis as well as targeted therapies to minimize undesired effects.

The role of cathepsin K, traditionally known to be secreted by osteoclasts, have been investigated mostly in the context of metastasis to bone, which is a common metastatic site for prostate, breast, and lung cancer. These metastatic cancer cells have shown various osteoclast-stimulating properties. [25, 189, 181] Increase in osteoclast differentiation or stimulation of osteoclasts leads to increase in cathepsin K secretion and bone resorption, which in turn releases growth factors from bone matrix and stimulates cancer cells.[87] Consequently, cathepsin K inhibitors have been suggested for treatment of osteolytic bone metastasis[99], but no data from large-scale clinical trial is currently available. A number of cathepsin K inhibitors have been developed to treat osteoporosis, but only one of them, odanacatib, has completed phase III clinical trial.[18] Cathepsins have been shown to promote cancer cell migration and invasion [92, 139, 93], potentially through cleavage of extracellular proteins[119, 72] and cell adhesion proteins as well as intracellular degradation of matrix proteins such as collagen.[57] Secreted cathepsins have been linked to neoplastic transformation and intracellular cathepsins have been linked to tumor invasion.

1.5 Kinase signaling network in understanding patient-specific cell behavior

Despite crucial roles monocyte-derived macrophages and osteoclasts have in diseases, how monocytes interpret environmental cues, process signals, and respond are not well understood. Intracellular signal propagation is often transient, and the traditionally examined cell surface markers and clusters of differentiation (CD) may not reflect this within the critical time frame and requires novel descriptors of cell state. Moreover, because most extracellular cues initiate multiple signaling cascades that are interconnected and dynamic, a system-wide approach must be taken to accurately capture this complexity. One tool that has been used successfully to extract important biological information by integrating unknown and measurable variables at a nexus, is the cuesignal-response paradigm (Figure 2). The cue-signal-response paradigm integrates multiple extracellular cues received by cells, measures changes in the induced signals, and interprets cell decisions to execute responses (Figure 2).[75, 159, 74, 134] In particular, computational analysis of dynamic changes in kinase activation has shown that kinases serve as integrators of stimuli from different soluble, cellular, and physical cues, to generate specific cellular responses.[77, 201, 101, 183] Prediction of monocyte differentiation and resultant proteolytic activity from an individual signaling pathway in isolation is problematic due to complex crosstalk in signaling networks, but is substantially improved when multiple pathways are considered (Figure 2).[135, 75]

1.6 Partial least square regression (PLSR)

PLSR is based on principal component analysis (PCA), where based on principles of eigenvectors and eigenvalues, data sets are organized into a MxN data matrix X(Figure 2) and new variables, called principal components (PCs), are calculated that capture most of the information contained in the data set based on covariance between measurements. This approach de-emphasizes measurements that are noise and shows little covariance with other measurements and highlights the measurements that covary together and identifies a global pattern in the data set. For PLSR analysis, covariance of independent variables in the X-matrix is calculated based on how well they describe or predict the dependent variables in the Y-matrix. Variable importance in projection (VIP) scores can be calculated to identify independent variables that highly contribute or are predictive of the dependent variable. For each independent variable, regression coefficient is also calculated where Y = XB + E and Bis regression coefficient matrix and E is residual noise. This coefficient matrix **B** is referred to as a PLSR model and can be used to predict responses for a whole new set of independent measurements (Figure 3).[76, 3]

1.6.1 Use of PLSR in biology

Partial least square regression (PLSR) analysis have been used in biology to generate new hypotheses that can be tested experimentally to improve our understanding of biology.[75] One of the advantages of PLSR analysis is that it can find new unbiased relationships within large number of measurements based on global variations and covariance. In systems biology, Cue-Signal-Response (CSR) paradigm refers to cellular



Figure 1: Cathepsins in diseases A schematic showing the role of monocyte derived macrophages and osteoclasts, as well as cathepsins secreted by these cells in atherosclerosis, osteoporosis and tumor.



Figure 2: A schematic of cue-signal-response (CSR) paradigm Kinases are signal integrators. When a cell receives some input (cue) from its environment, signals are propagated through activation / deactivation of multiple kinases and result in changes in cellular behavior or responses (gene apoptosis, differentiation, proliferation etc.).

systems where extracellular cues such as cytokines and growth factors activates intracellular signaling network which leads to functional responses by cells. For example, M-CSF (cue) binds to its receptor and the information is propagated by activation of multiple kinases (signal) leading to transcription of genes encoding cathepsins K, S, L, and V.[155] A PLSR model can be generated where the kinase measurements populate an independent matrix X and cathepsin activity measurements populate a dependent matrix Y. Cellular proteolytic activity when stimulated with IL-4 can then be predicted based on new set of kinase signals measured. Also, kinase signals that co-vary with responses could have biological connections that maybe known or to be tested experimentally.



Figure 3: PLSR data matrix X and Y data is generated using signals (X) and responses (Y). Using PLSR analysis, regression coefficient matrix is computed and can be used to predict responses based on new signal matrix.

CHAPTER II

SPECIFIC AIMS AND HYPOTHESES

The central hypothesis of this work is that by interpreting the kinase signaling networks of differentiating monocytes, we can understand patient-specific differences in monocyte differentiation and predict cathepsin-mediated tissue remodeling for individual patients.

2.1 Aim 1. Predict patient-specific cathepsin activity of monocyte-derived macrophages and osteoclasts using multivariate analysis of phosphokinases

Hypothesis: Multivariate analysis of phosphokinase will predict patient-specific morphology of differentiated macrophage and osteoclast and their cathepsin activity. Freshly isolated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from donors were differentiated into macrophages or osteoclasts and cultured for 14 days. On days 1, 3, 6 and 9, cell lysates were collected for Bioplex kinase analysis of 7 kinases implicated in monocyte differentiation. Mean-centered kinase signals as well as cathepsin activity measured with multiplex cathepsin zymography were input into data-matrices for PLSR analysis. On day 15, cell lysates and conditioned media were collected for cathepsin zymography and western blot to characterize activity and presence of intracellular and secreted cysteine cathepsins K, L, S and V. Cathepsin activity was quantified by densitometry.

2.2 Aim 2: Identify mechanisms for patient variability in cathepsin-mediated disease outcomes.

Hypothesis: Higher macrophage cathepsin activity is associated with increased severity or faster progression of diseases. Freshly isolated PBMCs were differentiated into macrophages and kinase signals, cathepsin activity and cystatin C level was measured. In vitro co-culture system was used to test variability in cancer cell invasion as proxies for disease progression to test the hypothesis that patent-specific variability in cathepsin activity results in patient-specific variability in disease progression.

The purpose of this work was to identify patient-variability in cellular proteolytic activity as well as to elucidate the underlying mechanism and its implication on the development and progression of tissue remodeling diseases to achieve the ultimate goal of personalized and predictive medicine.

CHAPTER III

DONOR SPECIFIC PROTEOLYTIC ACTIVITY OF MONOCYTE-DERIVED MACROPHAGES AND OSTEOCLASTS PREDICTED WITH TEMPORAL KINASE ACTIVATION STATES DURING DIFFERENTIATION

3.1 Introduction

Patient-to-patient variability in disease progression continues to complicate clinical decisions of treatment regimens for both cardiovascular diseases and cancer that originates at different sites and is diagnosed at different stages of progression. Monocytes are circulating white blood cells that participate in pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease and cancer in response to cues from cells or the environment by leaving the vasculature, entering the tissue, and differentiating into macrophages or osteoclasts. In atherosclerotic lesions, monocyte derived macrophages ingest lipids, become foam cells, and contribute to plaque growth and extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation and remodeling. [169] In cancer, monocyte-derived tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) contribute to almost 50% of the tumor volume and promote tumor invasion, migration and metastasis. [56, 57] Osteoclasts are the multinucleated cells that resorb bone by secreting high levels of cathepsin K to cleave type I collagen, the major structural protein in bone. [171, 17] Osteoclasts have been implicated in later stages of atherosclerotic plaque calcification and shown to be differentiated from infiltrated monocytes. [2, 96, 133] In cancer, osteoclasts are involved in positive feedback loops to develop osteolytic bone lesions with metastasized cancer cells. [99, 141]

Once differentiated from monocytes, both macrophages and osteoclasts contribute to tissue remodeling through the production and secretion of cysteine cathepsins, proteases that have been identified as the most potent mammalian collagenases and elastases that, upon secretion, locally degrade collagen, elastin, and other ECM substrates.[208, 51] Cathepsins K, L, S, and V produced by macrophages and osteoclasts are highly implicated in atherosclerotic vascular remodeling as well as tumor associated tissue remodeling.[115, 116, 157, 158, 184]

Pathologically overactive osteoclasts generate elevated levels of cathepsin K and are the main etiological agents of osteoporosis and osteolytic lesions. Despite the number of pharmacological inhibitors being developed to block this activity, many are failing clinical trials. [99, 18, 36] This may be due to variability in cathepsin activity among patients, altering pharmacokinetics, and in turn, increasing side effects due to under- or over-dosing. Studies have measured circulating cathepsin levels in patients with similar diseases and shown a wide range of variability, whether measured in plasma or serum, among healthy or diseased patients. [113, 96, 94, 84, 2, 75, 159, 74, 134 In particular, computational analysis of dynamic changes in kinase activation has shown that kinases serve as integrators of stimuli from different soluble, cellular, and physical cues, to generate specific cellular responses. [77, 201, 101, 183] Prediction of monocyte differentiation and resultant proteolytic activity from an individual signaling pathway in isolation is problematic due to complex crosstalk in signaling networks, but is substantially improved when multiple pathways are considered. [134, 75] A study used activation of just seven kinases in adult bone marrow-derived stem cells to show that osteogenic differentiation decisions were encoded in temporal kinase activation profiles, and analyzed them with the multivariate analytical technique partial least squares regression (PLSR) to predict terminal differentiation outcomes and phenotype. [159]

In the current study, we investigated if monocyte differentiation into macrophages

or osteoclasts, and the resulting cathepsin activity of these cells were encoded in kinase activation profiles, and if data-driven, multivariate analysis models could predict donor-specific cell differentiation and proteolytic activity. We hypothesized that the temporal kinase activation states would be predictive even with the challenge of incorporating complex unknown cues provided by the genetic and biochemical background of each individual donor that leads to variability.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 THP-1 Cell Culture

Human THP-1 acute monocytic leukemia cells (American Type Culture Collection [ATCC]) were cultured in RPMI medium 1640 (Mediatech) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Atlanta Biologicals), 0.05% -mercaptoethanol, 1% L-glutamine, and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Life Technologies). Cells were maintained with 5% CO_2 at 37 °C. For macrophage differentiation, monocytes were incubated with 100 nM phorbol myristate acetate (PMA, Sigma-Aldrich) for 24 h, followed by incubation for an additional 11 days in growth medium, with media changed twice per week. For osteoclast differentiation, monocytes were incubated with 100 nM 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ (Alfa Aesar) for 12 days, with medium changed twice per week. For all differentiation, cells were seeded at 300,000 cells/cm².

3.2.2 Primary monocyte isolation and differentiation

Heparinized venous blood from healthy volunteers was diluted 1:1 in sterile PBS, layered on Ficoll-Paque (GE healthcare), and centrifuged at 400g for 30 minutes. The buffy coat layer was isolated, red blood cells lysed, and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were washed 3 times in PBS. Monocytes adhered overnight and all other non-adherent cells were removed. For macrophage differentiation, isolated monocytes were cultured in RPMI containing 10% male human serum and $30 \text{ng}/\mu$ l macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF, Peprotech). For osteoclast differentiation, isolated monocytes were cultured in alpha-MEM (Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, $30 \text{ng}/\mu \text{l}$ M-CSF, and $30 \text{ng}/\mu \text{l}$ receptor activator of NF κ B Ligand (RANKL) (Peprotech). Medium was replaced every 3 days.

3.2.3 TRAP Histological Staining

On day 15, both macrophages and osteoclasts were stained for tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) activity according to the manufacturers instructions (Sigma-Aldrich). TRAP activity was visualized under a light microscope as brown and dark red areas. Multinucleated cells were deemed as those with three or more nuclei.

3.2.4 Flow Cytometry

TRAP activity was quantified using flow cytometry modified from an existing protocol and using Fast Red violet (Sigma Aldrich) instead of Fast Garnet GBC. Adherent cells were released using 2 mM ethylene diamine tetraacetate (EDTA), fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and permeabilized using 0.02% Triton X-100. Cells were then incubated in 2X TRAP Staining Solution (8% of 12.5 mg/ml napthol-ASBI phosphate, 2% of 10 mg/ml Fast Red violet diluted in solution containing 50 mM MES, 50 mM Na Tartrate and pH at 6.3) at room temperature for 9 minutes. Reaction was ended using ice cold PBS. TRAP activity was detected at 488 nm excitation, 610 nm short pass dichroic and measured through a 675 ± 20 narrow bandpass filter. For CD68 labeling, adherent cells were released using 2 mM ethylene diamine tetraacetate (EDTA), fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde. Cells were incubated in mouse anti-CD68 antibody (Millipore) at 4 °C for 30 minutes. They were then incubated with donkey anti-mouse Alexafluor 488 (Life Technologies) at 4 °C for 30 minutes. Data were expressed as percent of the total cell population positive for CD68.

3.2.5 Cell morphology measurements

Cell diameter and number of nuclei measurements were used for cell morphology. For macrophages, 20 cells were measured per donor, and a single diameter was measured for each cell. For osteoclasts, the number of cells measured varied from 5 to 20 as only cells with more than 3 nuclei were included; due to their irregular shapes, the narrowest and widest parts of each cell were measured and averaged to approximate diameter.

3.2.6 Kinase phosphorylation analysis with Bioplex assays

Differentiating cells were lysed and total protein concentration was determined using microBCA assay (Pierce). Bioplex®bead kits (BioRad) were used according to manufacturers instructions with 5 g protein from each sample. Phosphorylation of ERK1/2 (Thr²⁰²/Tyr²⁰⁴, Thr¹⁸⁵/Tyr¹⁸⁷), Akt (Ser⁴⁷³), p38 MAPK (Thr¹⁸⁰/Tyr¹⁸²), JNK (Thr¹⁸³/Tyr¹⁸⁵), c-jun (Ser⁶³), NF κ B p65 (Ser⁵³⁶) and I κ B- α (Ser³²/Ser³⁶) were measured. Signal values for each phosphorylated kinase were normalized to the signal detected in a master lysate prepared in bulk from pre-stimulated monocytes that was used as a control for all assays. Signal values for each kinase were normalized between 0 and 1 by dividing by the maximum value over the entire 9 days for all treatments.

3.2.7 Partial least square regression (PLSR) analysis

 $M \times N$ data matrix was generated with data from M donors and N kinase phosphorylation signals. Each column of the independent X matrix corresponds to a unique input or signal: phosphorylated kinase signal from days 1, 3, 6, and 9, and each column of the dependent Y matrix corresponds to unique outputs. Each row represents a unique donor and stimulation condition (i.e. donor 1- MCSF, donor 1-RANKL, donor 2- MCSF, etc.). All data was mean-centered and scaled to unit variance. SIMCA-P (UMetrics) was used to solve the PLSR problem with the nonlinear iterative partial least squares (NIPALS) algorithm.[52]

3.2.8 Multiplex cathepsin zymography

Media was replaced with serum-free media on day 14 and incubated overnight. This conditioned media was collected and concentrated using VivaSpin500 Centrifugal Concentrator (Vivaproducts). Cellular protein was extracted in lysis buffer (20 nM Tris-HCl at pH 7.5, 5 mM EGTA, 150 mM NaCl, 20 mM -glycerol-phosphate, 10 mM NaF, 1 mM sodium orthoxanadate, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% Tween-20) with 0.1 mM leupeptin freshly added. Cathepsin zymography was performed on cell extracts and on conditioned media as described previously [202] Briefly, equal amounts of protein in non-reducing loading buffer were separated on 12.5% SDS-polyacrylamide gels containing 0.2% gelatin at 4 °C. Enzymes were renatured and then the gels were incubated overnight at 37 °C in acetate buffer, pH 4 with 1 mM EDTA and freshly added 2mM dithiothreitol. Gels were then rinsed, stained with Coomassie blue, and imaged using an ImageQuant LAS 4000 (GE Healthcare). Densitometry was performed using ImageJ to quantify the intensity of the white cleared band of proteolytic activity. For cathepsin K inhibitor studies, gels were incubated overnight at 37 °C in the presence of 1M cathepsin K inhibitor (1-(N-benzyloxycarbonyl-leucyl)-5-(N-Boc-phenylalanylleucyl) carbohydrazide [Z-L-NHNHCONHNH-LF-Boc], EMD Biosciences) or vehicle. [94]

3.3 Results

3.3.1 THP-1 monocyte differentiation into macrophages or osteoclasts is encoded in temporal kinase activation states

Clonal THP-1 monocyte cells were used to identify a set of kinases for predicting macrophage or osteoclast differentiation outcomes. These cells have been differentiated into macrophages with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) and into osteoclasts with $1,25\alpha$ vitamin D₃ (1,25 D₃).[170, 70, 146, 89] We first confirmed this in our hands by stimulating THP-1 cells with 100 nM PMA for 1 day, followed by 8

days of culture, or 100 nM 1,25 α vitamin D₃ for 12 days. After 12 days, osteoclast differentiation was confirmed by tartrate resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) positive staining and multi-nucleation (n \geq 3) as indicated by Hoechst staining (Figure 4A).

In parallel, lysates were collected on days 1, 4, 6, and 9 of differentiation for Bioplex phosphorylated kinase assays. Six μ g of total protein was used to quantify phosphorylation of Akt, ERK1/2, p38, I κ B, and JNK at each of these time-points in cultures stimulated with either PMA or 1,25 D₃. These kinases were chosen as they have all been implicated during monocyte differentiation into either macrophages, osteoclasts, or both.[170, 168, 146, 15, 187] Kinase phosphorylation signals were normalized to the maximum activation across all conditions for all time points and treatment conditions (Figure 4B). The plots illustrate the difficulty in identifying patterns to link the cues, signals, and responses of differentiating cells based on an individual pathway.

Quantitative measurements of macrophage and osteoclast differentiation were necessary to populate a response matrix for the partial least squares regression (PLSR) model, and establish a mathematical relationship between kinase phosphorylation signatures and monocyte differentiation responses. To quantify macrophage differentiation, flow cytometry was performed after labeling the cells with an anti-CD68 antibody. For osteoclasts, traditional, qualitative colorimetric TRAP staining was modified with a fluorogenic phosphatase substrate to enable fluorescent TRAP activity quantification by flow cytometry.[44] As expected, there was a significantly greater number of TRAP+ cells after stimulation with 1,25 D₃ compared to the other two conditions, while treatment with PMA significantly increased the percentage of cells positive for CD68 expression (Figure 4C, n=3, pj.01).

With quantitative signals from kinase phosphorylation measurements (Figure 4B) and quantified differentiation responses from flow cytometry (Figure 4C), we were then able to determine if these kinase activation states could be used to predict



Figure 4: Multivariate analysis of kinase signals of THP-1 monocytes predicts and distinguishes macrophage and osteoclast differentiation outcomes. THP-1 monocytes were stimulated with 100nM PMA or 100nM 1,25 vitamin D_3 (1,25 D_3) for 12 days. A) Nuclei were stained with Hoechst for determining multinucleation (top row). Cells were fixed and stained with colorimetric TRAP activity assay (bottom row). B) On days 1, 4, 7 and 9 of differentiation, macrophages and osteoclasts were lysed and kinase signals were quantified using Bioplex technology and normalized to maximum signal over the time period. C) On day 12, flow cytometry for TRAP activity and CD68 expression was performed. D) PLSR analysis was performed using kinase signals and the scores plot shows polar separation of osteoclasts (1,25 D_3) and macrophages (PMA) along principle component 1 (PC1). E) The loadings plot shows polar separation of temporal kinase phosphorylation and covariance with differentiation outcomes of osteoclasts (TRAP+) or macrophages (CD68).

macrophage or osteoclast differentiation responses. Based on the principles of eigenvectors and orthogonal transformation, PLSR algorithm groups signals with co-varying responses, and reduces dimensionality of the data by plotting them along principal component (PC) axes that capture maximal variance. The PLSR algorithm then computes a linear solution in principal component space based on the proposed relationship between the independent variables X (signals) and dependent variables Y (responses) to calculate a coefficient matrix such that Y=F(X) in principal component space. Methods to determine significance of principal components is described in supplemental methods. The kinase signals that co-vary the greatest with the dependent variable (macrophage or osteoclast differentiation responses in this case) are weighted more heavily in the solution function that will be used to predict the responses (Y) from the given input data matrix (X). When analyzing biological measurements, these principal component axes can be assigned to biological phenomena such as differentiation, proliferation or apoptosis.

In the scores plot shown in figure 4D, treatment conditions are plotted onto principal component axes according to their covariance. In other words, similar cellular responses to treatments are grouped together when projected onto the principal components. PMA and $1,25D_3$ stimulated kinase signatures were segregated along the first principle component (PC 1). Undifferentiated THP-1 monocytes cultured only in RPMI media were segregated along PC 2 from the differentiated cells. This suggested that the first principal component could be defined as macrophage/osteoclast differentiation axis, and the second as the proliferation axis. The loadings plot is shown in figure 4E and depicts the contribution of an individual kinases activation at a specific time, to macrophage or osteoclast differentiation according to the calculated weighted coefficients, and plots them onto weighted principal components. A clear polarization of signals with either CD68 or TRAP responses is depicted.

Goodness of prediction was tested using a bootstrapping approach; cross-validation
was performed by omitting an observation, then using the calculated weighted coefficient matrix to predict response values without those removed observations. This procedure was repeated until every observation had been excluded exactly once. Then predictability was determined using root mean square error between predicted and experimentally observed values. Using Akt, ERK1/2, p38, $I\kappa B$, and JNK phosphorylation, greater than 99% predictability of CD68 expression and TRAP positive staining was achieved suggesting that these kinases would be useful in predicting monocyte differentiation responses.

3.3.2 Primary monocyte-derived macrophages and osteoclasts from healthy donors exhibit extensive morphological variability

The cell line was useful for proof-of-principle that a key set of kinase activation signatures could be predictive of monocyte differentiation decisions. The next step was to apply this methodology to primary monocytes isolated from different individuals peripheral blood. Monocytes were isolated from healthy donors and stimulated for macrophage differentiation with M-CSF for 14 days, or for osteoclast differentiation with M-CSF and RANKL for 14 days. Morphological differences in diameter and number of nuclei among the donors differentiated macrophages and osteoclasts were the first indicator of variability among donors. Representative images of differentiated cells are shown with donor matched macrophages and osteoclasts, by column (Figure 5A). Osteoclast differentiation was confirmed by multi-nucleation ($n \geq 3$) and TRAP+ histological staining (Figure 5B).

Cell diameter and number of nuclei of monocyte derived macrophages and monocytederived osteoclasts were quantified and shown in the box and whisker plots (Figure 5C). Mean diameter of the macrophages was $29.2\pm12\mu$ m, 41% deviation in diameter, among seven donors, here on referred to as Group I, and with one nucleus. Osteoclasts exhibited greater range of donor variability with a mean diameter of $143.5\pm85\mu$ m, a 59% deviation, and median number of nuclei of 3 (Figure 5C) with one osteoclast from a particular donor contained as many as 9 nuclei, although the median number of nuclei among all counted osteoclasts for that donor was 5. TRAP and CD68 expression were initially measured for first sets of samples using flow cytometry. However, changes in forward and side scatter (FSC and SSC) due to these morphology differences made it difficult to reliably gate and quantify appreciable shifts in fluorescence for these groups. Due to this, cell size and number of nuclei were used as quantitative morphological measurements.

3.3.3 Donor-to-donor variability in cell morphology is encoded in temporal kinase activation states of the differentiating monocytes

We tested the hypothesis that a coefficient matrix could still be calculated from multivariate kinase activation to predict donor monocyte differentiation responses despite the donor-specific morphological variability. Cell lysates were collected on days 1, 3, 6 and 9 of primary monocyte differentiation and temporal kinase phosphorylation signatures were measured using Bioplex assays as described earlier. These kinase activation signatures were variable for Group I, as indicated by color variations in the heat map, even for the same kinase, treatment condition, and time (Figure 6A). The input matrix (X) of kinase phosphorylation and dependent response matrix (Y)of cell morphology data of diameter and number of nuclei were used to calculate the weighted coefficient matrix that would link the initiating cues to the differentiated cell phenotype responses using the kinases signals. Separate models were made for macrophages and osteoclast differentiation cues, with the inherent, but unknown donor-specific factors that stimulate monocytes in vivo, affecting kinase signatures of both datasets.

PLSR analysis also can identify the most important kinase signals and time points for a differentiation outcome by calculating the variable importance for projection (VIP) using a weighted sum of squares of the coefficients calculated for a signal, such



Figure 5: Phenotypic variability of macrophages and osteoclasts derived from peripheral blood monocytes Monocytes isolated from peripheral blood were cultured for 14 days and treated with $30 \text{ng}/\mu \text{l}$ M-CSF alone to differentiate them into macrophages or with $30 \text{ng}/\mu \text{l}$ M-CSF and $30 \text{ng}/\mu \text{l}$ sRANKL to drive osteoclastic differentiation and cultured. A) Representative pictures of monocyte derived macrophages and monocyte derived osteoclasts after 12 days of differentiation are shown. Dotted lines outline osteoclasts. B) On day 15, multinucleated cells in the culture were stained for TRAP activity to confirm osteoclastic differentiation. A representative image of colorimetric assay staining is shown. C) Mean diameter and average number of nuclei per donor were measured (n=7).

that those signals projecting strongly either positively or negatively with a differentiation response are highly ranked. If the VIP value was greater than 1, then the kinase signals were regarded as significant. JNK activation on days 1, 3 and 6 were important for determining cell morphological responses for both macrophages and osteoclasts (Table ??. Interestingly, the effects of JNK activation on macrophage and osteoclasts were opposite; with a positive correlation for macrophage diameter but a negative correlation for osteoclast diameter and number of nuclei. Using the bootstrapping method described earlier, goodness of prediction was calculated. Predictability was 97% for cell diameter of macrophages, and 93% for osteoclasts. Predictability was 95% for number of nuclei for osteoclasts (Figure 6B). With only one nucleus, no variation could be predicted for monocyte-derived macrophages.

To test this predictability a priori, this trained model was applied to 7 additional donors, denoted as Group II, with kinase activation heat map and variable signals shown (Figure 7A). Cell diameter was predicted at 90% and 92% for macrophages and osteoclasts, respectively, but osteoclast nuclei predictability dropped to 71% (Figure7B). Quantification of these experimental measurements for Group II is shown in box and whisker plots with mean diameter of the macrophages as 34.4 10μ m (29% deviation) among 7 donors (Group II) and osteoclasts at a mean diameter of 173.9 54μ m (31% deviation). Median number of nuclei for these osteoclasts was 4, one higher than training Group I, but two donors from Group II had higher average numbers of nuclei (>6) which could have lowered the nuclei predictability (Figure7C).

3.3.4 Cathepsin proteolytic activity of differentiated macrophages and osteoclasts reflect donor-to-donor variability

With some predictability of morphology, we tested if behavioral or functional activity of the differentiated macrophages and osteoclasts could also be predicted for individual donors. Cathepsin activity was this metric. After the 14 day differentiation period during which kinase phosphorylation data was collected, conditioned media and cell



Figure 6: Donor-to-donor variability in macrophage and osteoclast differentiation outcomes of cell diameter and number of nuclei is captured in kinase activation state of differentiating monocytes A) On days 1, 3, 6 and 9 of differentiation, macrophages and osteoclasts were lysed, and kinase signals were quantified using Bioplex technology. A compendium of time-dependent kinase signals of donors 1-7 (group I) is shown. Signals are normalized to the highest value within a given time point and a kinase. White boxes correspond to missing measurements. B) A PLSR model was generated with kinase signals of differentiating macrophages as inputs and cell diameter as an output ($R^2Y = 0.734 Q^2 = 0.061, 1$) significant PC). A separate PLSR model was generated for differentiating osteoclasts with their kinase signals in input matrix and their cell size and number of nuclei in output matrix ($R^2Y = 0.815$, $Q^2 = 0.248$, 2 significant PCs). Prediction was made with cross-validation and jack-knifing approaches, and predictability was calculated based on RMSEE. Plots of predicted vs. observed are shown, with blue diamonds for osteoclasts and red diamonds for macrophages. Predictability for cell diameter was 96% for macrophages and 89% for osteoclasts. Predictability for number of nuclei was 94% for osteoclasts. With only one nucleus, no variation can be predicted for macrophage.

Table 1: Variable importance of projection (VIP) for macrophage diameter and osteoclast diameter and number of nuclei Kinase signals with significant VIP values for the PLSR model predictive of macrophage diameter, and osteoclast diameter and number of nuclei. Kinase signals were regarded as significant if the VIP value was greater than 1. Kinase signals with significant VIP values for both macrophages and osteoclasts were highlighted.

Macrophages		Osteoclast	
Variables	VIP	Variables	VIP
p-lkBa D6	1.550	p-c-Jun day 6	1.349
p-c-Jun day 1	1.517	p-c-Jun day 3	1.243
p-Akt day 1	1.478	p-c-Jun day 9	1.182
p-c-Jun day 3	1.360	p-lkBa day 6	1.152
p-lkBa day 1	1.073	p-Akt day 3	1.103
p-JNK day 9	1.063	p-Akt day 6	1.031
p-lkBa day 3	0.933	p-JNK day 1	1.018
p-lkBa day 9	0.865	p-JNK day 9	0.993
p-JNK day 6	0.842	p-lkBa day 3	0.932
p-Akt day 9	0.816	p-lkBa day 1	0.908
p-JNK day 1	0.746	p-Akt day 9	0.879
p-c-Jun day 9	0.667	p-c-Jun day 1	0.878
p-c-Jun day 6	0.665	p-Akt day 1	0.836
p-Akt day 3	0.496	p-p38 MAPK day 1	0.762
p-p38 MAPK day 1	0.419	p-JNK day 6	0.761
p-Akt day 6	0.345	p-lkBa day 9	0.714



Figure 7: A priori predictions of differentiated morphologies A) A compendium of time-dependent kinase signals of donors 8-14 (group II) used for a priori prediction is shown. B) The trained models for macrophages and osteoclasts generated with Group I data were used to predict cell diameter and number of nuclei from Group II kinase data. The model was effective in predicting cell diameter, with 90% predictability for macrophages and 91% predictability for osteoclasts, but only 71% for osteoclast nuclei. With only one nucleus, no variation can be predicted for macrophage. C) Experimental/observed quantification of mean diameter and average number of nuclei per donor (n=7).

extracts were collected and assayed for cathepsin activity from a separate group of cells seeded from Group II donors. Multiplex cathepsin zymography was used. By this assay, active cathepsins K, L, S, and V produce cleared white bands of degraded gelatin on a Coomassie stained gelatin-polyacrylamide gel. Intensity correlates to level of proteolytic activity and this can be quantified with densitometry. An added benefit of this assay is that cathepsins K, L, S, and V all produce a detectable signal on the same gel but appear at distinct, expected electrophoretic migration distances of 37 kD for cathepsin K, 35 kD for cathepsin V, 25 kD for cathepsin S, and 20 kD for cathepsin L.[82] It is also more sensitive for cathepsin K than Western blotting.[105]

Cathepsin activity from cell extracts (Figure 8A,B) and conditioned media (Figure 8C,D) was quantified, and donor variability is shown in the box and whisker plots with representative gels of four donors zymograms shown. Zymograms shown in figure 5 were incubated at pH 4 for maximal cathepsin V and L signals, and were also incubated at pH 6 for maximal cathepsin K signal [202] (Figure 9). From these zymogram results, there were similar cathepsin activity profiles across donors within a cell type, but distinctive between osteoclasts and macrophages. A 75 kD cathepsin activity band consistently appeared in osteoclast lysates and conditioned media, suggestive of it being cathepsin K activity. However, its electrophoretic migration distance differed from the expected 37 kD distance for cathepsin K.[94] To verify its identity, osteoclast lysates were loaded for cathepsin zymography and incubated in the presence or absence of 1μ M cathepsin K inhibitor, which blocked the appearance of the band in question after staining the zymogram, confirming its identity as cathepsin K (Figure 8E,F). Cathepsins K and V activity was higher in both conditioned media and cell extracts of osteoclasts compared to macrophages. This was expected for cathepsin K since it is the key enzyme used by osteoclasts for bone resorption. [23] Cathepsin V, however, was more unexpected since its tissue localization has been reported as being restricted to thymus, testis, cornea, and macrophages. [208] Macrophage cathepsin L activity was high in both conditioned media and cell extracts supporting reports of its expression by macrophages in atherosclerosis.[115] Cathepsin L was not secreted by osteoclasts, however, although it was active intracellularly. Cathepsin L also showed the greatest donor-to-donor variability.

3.3.5 Donor-specific cathepsin proteolytic activity of monocyte-derived macrophages and osteoclasts can be predicted

To test predictability of cathepsins K, L, S and V activity in differentiated macrophages and osteoclasts, cell-type specific coefficient matrices were calculated using the previously collected kinase signatures from Group II. Predictability was calculated as before with cell diameter and nuclei data, but this time for cathepsin activity in cell extracts. Plots of predicted values versus experimentally observed values are shown in (Figure10). Predictability for all cathepsins was greater than or equal to 90%, and this was true for both macrophage and osteoclast outcomes. For macrophages, predictability for cathepsin K was 90%, cathepsin V was 95%, cathepsin S was 94%, and cathepsin L was 93% (Figure10A). For osteoclasts, predictability for cathepsin K was 90%, cathepsin S was 95%, and cathepsin L was 90% (Figure10B). Predictions for cathepsins secreted into the conditioned medium were generally lower than 90% and considered not to be predictive (Figure 11). Analysis of the VIPs for predicting cathepsin activity identified c-jun phosphorylation as important for cathepsin activity of monocyte-derived macrophages and osteoclasts (Supp Table 2), and this has been implicated previously by us.[82]

3.4 Discussion

Variability in disease may be due to a number of factors. From these results, we submit that each persons individual biochemical milieu of cytokines, growth factors, and other stimuli, contain a bevy of cues that explicitly and acutely pre-condition cells for specific responses to induce the variability in response to treatment or in progression



Figure 8: Cathepsin proteolytic profiles of differentiated macrophages and osteoclasts reflect donor-to-donor variability Multiplex cathepsin zymography (assay buffer, pH 4) and quantification of (A, B) cell extracts or (C, D) conditioned media for macrophage and osteoclast differentiation from donor monocytes. Quantification of cathepsin activity and donor variability is represented in the box and whisker plots. To confirm identity of 75kD band as cathepsin K, osteoclast lysates were loaded for zymography and 1μ M of cathepsin K inhibitor (1-(N-benzyloxycarbonyl-leucyl)-5-(N-Boc-phenylalanyl- leucyl) carbohydrazide [Z-L-NHNHCONHNH-LF-Boc] was incubated with the zymogram during the overnight incubation at pH 4 (E) or pH 6 (F). The 75kD active band no longer appears.



Figure 9: Cathepsin proteolytic profiles of differentiated macrophages and osteoclasts in assay buffer, pH 6. Multiplex cathepsin zymography (assay buffer, pH 6) and quantification of (A, B) cell extracts or (C, D) conditioned media for macrophage and osteoclast differentiation from donor monocytes. Quantification of cathepsin activity and donor variability is represented in the box and whisker plots. As with zymograms incubated in pH 4, the 75kD cathepsin activity was apparent in osteoclasts and cathepsin V activity was higher in osteoclasts as well. Cathepsin L activity was higher in cell extracts of macrophages.



Figure 10: Multivariate analysis of kinase activation successfully predicted donor-specific cathepsin proteolytic activity of monocyte derived macrophages and osteoclasts Predictability of cathepsins K, L, S, and V activity in cell extracts using a PLSR model trained with kinase measurements of differentiating macrophages (A) ($R^2Y = 0.837$, $Q^2 = 0.618$, 1 significant PC) or of differentiating osteoclasts (B) ($R^2Y = 0.564$, $Q^2 = -0.0823$, 1 significant PC).



Figure 11: Multivariate analysis of kinase activation was not highly predictive of secreted cathepsin proteolytic activity of donor monocyte derived macrophages and osteoclasts. Predictability of secreted cathepsins K, L, S, and V activity using a PLSR model trained with kinase measurements of differentiating macrophages (A) ($R^2Y = 0.693$, $Q^2 = 0.541$, 1 significant PC) or of differentiating osteoclasts (B) ($R^2Y = 0.478$, $Q^2 = 0.073$, 1 significant PC).

Table 2: VIPs for cell-associated cathepsin activity of macrophages and osteoclasts Kinase signals with significant VIP values for the PLSR model predictive of cell-associated cathepsin activity of monocyte-derived macrophages and for monocyte-derived osteoclasts.

Macrophages		Osteoclasts	
Variables	VIP	Variables	VIP
p-JNK day 6	1.782	p-JNK day 1	1.710
p-JNK day 3	1.596	p-Akt day 1	1.685
p-JNK day 1	1.439	p-JNK day 6	1.593
p-NFkB p65 day 1	1.292	p-p38 MAPK day 6	1.207
p-ERK1/2 day 9	1.086	p-ERK1/2 day 6	1.189
p-p38 MAPK day 9	1.044	p-p38 MAPK day 1	1.162
p-lkBa day 3	0.918	p-ERK1/2 day 1	1.100
p-lkBa day 9	0.875	p-NFkB p65 day 1	1.096
p-NFkB p65 day 6	0.869	p-lkBa day 1	1.092
p-Akt day 9	0.800	p-lkBa day 9	1.065
p-JNK day 9	0.751	p-Akt day 6	1.058
p-Akt day 3	0.746	p-JNK day 3	1.053
p-p38 MAPK day 1	0.669	p-p38 MAPK day 3	1.053
p-lkBa day 6	0.586	p-Akt day 9	1.035
p-Akt day 6	0.505	p-NFkB p65 day 9	0.781
p-Akt day 1	0.272	p-JNK day 9	0.710
p-lkBa day 1	0.156	p-Akt day 3	0.684
		p-lkBa day 3	0.536
		p-NFkB p65 day 6	0.397
		p-lkBa day 6	0.316
		p-ERK1/2 day 3	0.285
		p-NFkB p65 day 3	0.277
		p-ERK1/2 day 9	0.156
		p-p38 MAPK day 9	0.156

of disease. Cathepsins are proteases expressed by macrophages and osteoclasts that are also biomarkers and mediators of tissue destructive diseases. By using a systems biology approach to link cell differentiation cues and responses through integration of signals at the kinase level, where integration of ubiquitous information is processed intelligently by the differentiating cell, we were able to mathematically predict relative amounts of cathepsin activity and distinguish which donors would have greater cathepsin activity compared to others.

Despite stimulation with identical cues, in vitro, donor-to-donor variability was evident in kinase activation signatures, differentiated cell morphology, and cathepsin activity. This suggests that there were additional cues that pre-conditioned the circulating monocytes from unique, donor-specific milieus prior to isolation. Along with a donors genetic background, there are many bioactive molecules circulating in the blood that control macrophage and osteoclast differentiation, such as monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, RANKL, tumor necrosis factor-, parathyroid hormone, and calcitonin, among others, that differ from donor to donor. The complex question of how to account for the influence of these undetermined and unmeasured cues may be answered using kinase signatures, as demonstrated by this study. Kinases are upand downstream of growth factor binding to receptors, cytokine stimulation, transcription factor binding, gene transcription, and protein translation. Therefore, by measuring kinase activation as this nexus of inputs that precede outputs, predictive information of cell fate prior to synthesis of differentiated cell-specific proteins and behavioral responses is provided. Although there was variability in magnitude and duration of kinase activation signals among the seven original donors of this study, a weighted coefficient matrix could be used to calculate and predict the responses of cell diameter and number of nuclei with as high as 97% predictability (Figure 6). Osteoclasts larger cell diameters and multi-nucleation are distinct characteristics from macrophages, although they differentiate from the same progenitor cell. By using these metrics, PLSR was able to predict differentiation outcomes in terms of cell diameter and number of nuclei. Even further, it was predictive of the donor-specific differences in these outcomes, which varied by as much as 59% for osteoclasts (Figs 3 and 4).

This was tested a priori on a second group of donors with predictability remaining above 90% for cell diameter, but an additional functional outcome of cathepsin activity was measured to link the donor variability in differentiated macrophages and osteoclasts to cell function; cathepsin activity from cell extracts was also highly predictive using only temporal kinase signatures (Figure 10), and macrophage models were more predictive than osteoclasts. This is a limitation of the model, but it makes sense considering the wider range of values for osteoclasts and the fact that they are multi-nucleated cells formed from fusion of pre-osteoclasts. Another limitation is that it was difficult to predict secreted cathepsin activity levels in a donor specific manner (Figure 11). As an explanation, cathepsins are highly regulated at multiple stages from transcription to translation to secretion, and are susceptible to external influences such as degradation, oxidation, denaturation, and inhibition.[16] Additionally, we have recently shown that cannibalism occurs between cathepsins in the extracellular space serving to degrade each other, [7] and the time frame at which conditioned media is collected could allow this additional behavior to occur and reduce the amount of secreted cathepsin present. These factors cannot be accounted for by changes in intracellular kinases. The multivariate analysis was able to provide clues to identify cathepsin K despite its altered electrophoretic migration. Cathepsin K is post-translationally modified in several ways that can affect its electrophoretic migration under non-reducing conditions: 1) its glycosylation can lead to altered targeting and secretion, [16] 2) it binds to chondroitin sulfates to form large oligometric complexes, [107, 106, 108] and 3) there are also reports of cathepsin K assuming either a tensed or relaxed state depending on ionic conditions at physiological pH that may be altering its electrophoretic migration.[149]

Development of cathepsins as biomarkers of disease is a growing field, but the lack of predictability for secreted cathepsins shown in this study, may have translated to the difficulties of others that have used ELISAs to measure cathepsins in plasma or serum and correlated their levels with disease. There have been varied successes in cardiovascular disease, osteoporosis, cancer, and osteolytic bone metastases. [113, 96, 94, 84, 2] Serum cathepsin K measurements have been controversial; one study determined statistically significant elevated cathepsin K in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis compared to healthy age matched women, even though the standard deviation of the measurements was greater than the mean. [96] A different study reported the opposite; serum cathepsin K levels could not be used to identify pre- and post-menopausal women with osteoporosis or osteopenia. [96] In cancer biomarker studies, serum cathepsin levels have been measured for prostate, breast, and lung cancer, and all have yielded wide range of donor to donor variability and inconclusive findings regarding their correlation with disease. [96, 191, 145] By studying mononuclear cells from the blood and the proteases they will produce, inferences can be made about local proteolytic activity contributing to the focal disease and matrix degradation, whereas the circulating levels in the blood could be attributed to any number of cells from different regions of the body. Those large cohort studies motivate the need for personalized medicine approaches for individualized assessment incorporating the indefinable, therefore non-quantifiable patient-inherent factors that provide cues to elicit cellular responses; these factors may explain why some individuals have greater propensity to make proteolytic enzymes over others (Figure 8). In this study, monocytes were specifically targeted as they are the effector cells that enter tissue, differentiate, and advance disease. Recently, the effects of some inherent, circulating donor-specific factor (or a group of factors) that increased protease production by monocytes was demonstrated in a comparative study between individuals with and without sickle cell disease.[82] In that study, we showed that the chronic inflammatory milieu of sickle cell disease activated monocytes to induce greater cathepsin proteolytic activity after binding to endothelial cells compared to those without the disease. This could be an example of donor-inherent factors that precondition monocytes for elevated proteolytic activity. Although the donors of this current study did not have sickle cell disease, they still exhibited wide range of variability in cathepsin activity, perhaps due to each persons unique biochemical milieu; yet kinase activation signals could predict these responses.

Donor variability in kinase activation signatures and cathepsin activity profiles may provide insight into proper dosing and efficiency of therapeutic small-molecule kinase inhibitors and cathepsin inhibitors currently in the pharmaceutical pipeline. Variability among the donors kinase activation (Figure 6A, 7A) also suggests that a one-size-fits-all approach of administering kinase inhibitors may not be the best strategy for all patients. Certainly the varying levels of active cathepsins among patients can be a confounding factor when prescribing doses of cathepsin inhibitors and cause severe side effects in some patients, that have prematurely ended many cathepsin S and K inhibitor clinical trials.[18]

3.5 Conclusions

Kinases are signal integrators between environmental cues and cellular responses, and analysis of multiple kinase pathways yielded high predictability for monocyte differentiation into macrophages and osteoclasts, described by cell morphology and cathepsin activity. Although there are a myriad of donor-specific factors that cannot be accounted for, we suggest that the wide range of donor-to-donor variability in proteolytic expression from monocyte-derived macrophages and osteoclast shown in our study may provide clues to wide range of disease progression and responses to therapy observed between patients. Lastly, using data-driven, multivariate analysis model of kinases, we could predict donor-specific cathepsin activity profiles which may provide beneficial tools for personalized protease inhibitor therapies.

CHAPTER IV

DONOR-TO-DONOR VARIABILITY IN MACROPHAGE-AND CATHEPSIN-MEDIATED BREAST CANCER CELL INVASION

4.1 Introduction

Despite the prevalence of breast cancer in the U.S.[142], patient-to-patient variability in disease progression continues to complicate clinical decisions in diagnosis and treatment of patients.[179, 152, 27, 40, 153, 180, 204] Advancement in diagnostic and imaging techniques led to increases in early detection of breast cancer. This increase, however, often leads to premature and aggressive treatment of non-malignant lesions due to inherent uncertainty in malignant progression of the cancer. A lack of well informed risk/benefit analysis can result in net harm to the patients. This current work turns to tumor microenvironment to identify potential patient-specific predictive markers for cancer progression.

One main player that promotes invasiveness of cancer cells is tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs).[58] TAMs have been shown to promote angiogenesis,[102, 103, 104, 37, 165, 131] tumor growth[103], invasion and metastasis[109] through secretion of cytokines to coordinate tumor-promoting immune responses[6, 175, 120, 121] as well as through secretion of tissue-remodeling cysteine cathepsin proteases.[56, 57, 138, 199, 167] Moreover, infiltration of TAMs is often associated with poor prognosis.[34, 97, 100, 22] Cathepsins secreted by TAMs have been shown to play significant role in cancer growth and invasion.[56]

Previously, we showed donor-to-donor variability in cathepsin activity from primary monocyte-derived macrophages. In this current study, we investigate whether this variability in cathepsin activity leads to interdonor variability in macrophagemediated cancer cell invasion. donor MDMs were co-cultured with MCF-7 breast cancer cell line, thereby limiting the variability in the system to donor-specific factors. We also seek to identify proteolytic or molecular signatures that could be useful in identifying those with macrophages with high cathepsin activity and invasive potential

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Primary monocyte isolation and differentiation

Heparinized venous blood from healthy volunteers was diluted 1:1 in sterile PBS and layered on Ficoll-Paque (GE healthcare) and centrifuged at 400g for 30 minutes. The buffy coat was isolated, red blood cells lysed, and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were washed 3 times in PBS. For monocyte phosphoprotein and cathepsin activity analysis, CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes were isolated using Pan-monocyte magnetic bead isolation kit (Milteny) and lysates were collected. For macrophage differentiation, monocytes adhered overnight were cultured in RPMI containing 10% male human serum and $30ng/\mu$ l macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF, Peprotech). Media was replaced every 3 days. For kinase inhibition studies, differentiating monocytes were treated with either 50μ M JNK inhibitor II (SP600125, Millipore) or 2.5μ M LY294002 (PI3K inhibitor, Millipore) with media change every three days for 12 days.

4.2.2 Multiplex cathepsin zymography

Cell extracts from monocytes and cell extracts and conditioned media from macrophages were collected. To prepare conditioned media, differentiation media was replaced with serum-free media on day 14 and incubated overnight. Conditioned media was collected and concentrated using VivaSpin®500 Centrifugal Concentrator (Vivaproducts). Cellular protein was extracted in lysis buffer (20 nM Tris-HCl at pH 7.5, 5 mM EGTA, 150 mM NaCl, 20 mM β -glycerol-phosphate, 10 mM NaF, 1 mM sodium orthovanadate, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% Tween-20) with 0.1 mM leupeptin freshly added. Cathepsin zymography was performed on cell extracts and on conditioned media as described previously.[202] Briefly, equal amounts of protein in non-reducing loading buffer were separated on 12.5% SDS-polyacrylamide gels containing 0.2% gelatin at 4 °C. Enzymes were renatured and then the gels were incubated overnight at 37 °C in phosphate buffer, pH6 with 1mM EDTA and freshly added 2mM DTT. Gels were then rinsed, stained with Coomassie blue, and imaged using an ImageQuant LAS 4000 (GE Healthcare). Densitometry was performed using ImageJ to quantify the intensity of the white cleared band of proteolytic activity

4.2.3 Measurements of cystatin C

Conditioned media collected from differentiated macrophages were loaded for Western blot or ELISA to measure cystatin C level using mouse monoclonal antibody against cystatin C (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) for Western blot and Quantikine Cystatin C ELISA kit (R&D Biosystems).

4.2.4 Collagen invasion assay

Collagen invasion assay was adopted from a previous work by Goswami et al.[59] On day 13, MDMs were stained using 25M CellTracker Blue CMAC (Invitrogen) for 90 minutes. Then MDMs (n=160,000) and MCF-7 cells (n = 64,000) were plated on a 12-well MatTek multiwall plates in RPMI with 10% human AB serum. After overnight incubation, cells were serum starved for 4 hours in serum-free RPMI. Then cells were overlaid with 1,000 μ m layer of 2.5 mg/mL collage I and was allowed to gel for 90 minutes at 37 C before adding 1mL of RPMI with 10% human AB serum. After 24 hour incubation, cells and the collagen gels were fixed with 10% neutral buffered formalin and analyzed by confocal microscopy. Optical z-sections were taken every 5μ m from the bottom of the plate. MCF-7 Cells that had invaded into collagen gel beyond $20\mu m$ were counted and were divided by the number of MCF-7 cells at the bottom of the plate

4.2.5 Kinase phosphorylation analysis

On days 0, 1, 3, 6 and 9, freshly isolated monocytes or differentiating cells stimulated with M-CSF were lysed and total protein was determined using BCA (Pierce). Bioplex bead kits (BioRad) were used according to manufacturers instructions with 5 g protein from each sample and measured phosphorylation of ERK1/2 (Thr²⁰²/Tyr²⁰⁴, Thr¹⁸⁵/Tyr¹⁸⁷), Akt (Ser⁴⁷³), p38 MAPK (Thr¹⁸⁰/Tyr¹⁸²), JNK (Thr¹⁸³/Tyr¹⁸⁵), cjun (Ser⁶³), and I κ B- α (Ser³²/Ser³⁶). Signal values for each phosphorylated kinase were normalized to the signal detected in a master lysate prepared in bulk from prestimulated cells that was used as a control for all assays. Signal values for each kinase were normalized to between 0 and 1 by dividing by the maximum value over the entire 9 days for all treatments.

4.2.6 Partial least square regression analysis

 $M \ge N$ data matrix was generated with data from M donors and N kinase phosphorylation signals or N cathepsin activity and cystatin C level. Each column of the independent X matrix corresponds to a unique input or signal: phosphorylated kinase signal from days 0, 1, 3, 6, and 9, and each column of the dependent Y matrix corresponds to unique responses which were cathepsin activity, cystatin C level or invasion index. Each row represents a unique donor and stimulation condition (i.e. donor 1-DMSO, donor 1-JNK inhibitor, donor 1-PI3K inhibitor, etc.). All data was mean-centered and scaled to unit variance. SIMCA-P (UMetrics) was used to solve the PLSR problem with the nonlinear iterative partial least squares (NIPALS) algorithm.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Donor-to-Donor variability in macrophage cathepsin activity and cystatin C level underlie interdonor variability in cancer cell invasion

In our previous study, we reported donor-to-donor variability in cathepsin activity of monocyte-derived macrophages. Because many studies have shown that tumorassociated macrophages and cathepsins promote cancer cell invasion, we investigated whether the variability in macrophage cathepsin activity we observed would lead to variability in macrophage-mediated cancer cell invasion. Monocytes were isolated from peripheral blood drawn from healthy donors using density gradient centrifugation and were stimulated with M-CSF for 14 days. On day 14, differentiated macrophages were plated onto a transwell coated with Matrigel with or without MCF-7 breast cancer cells for modified Boyden chamber assay. After 24 hours, the number of invaded cells was counted and invasion index was calculated. Invasion index was defined to be the ratio between the number of invaded cells in the co-culture system to the number of invaded cells in MCF-7-only culture. There was donor-to-donor variability in the number of invaded cancer cells (Fig 12A). Cancer cells co-cultured with macrophages from P3 invaded four times less than the cancer cells co-cultured with donor 4 and twice less than donor 2. As the cancer cells were from clonal population of MCF-7 breast cancer cell line, to determine whether the variability was due to cathepsin secreted by macrophages, conditioned media was collected from the differentiated macrophages after 14 days and an equal amount of protein was loaded for multiplex cathepsin zymography (Fig 12B). Although there was apparent variability in secreted cathepsin activity between donors, donor 3 who had the least invasion had the highest cathepsin activity and donor 4 and 5 with high number of invaded cells had low cathepsin activity. These results were in contradictory to studies that showed cathepsins secreted by macrophages promote cancer cell invasion. However, it was also shown that lack of cystatin C, an endogenous inhibitor of cathepsins, increases cancer cell invasion. We therefore turn to measure the amount of cystatin C secreted by macrophages as studies have shown that lack of cystatin C can promote cancer cell invasion. [148] The amount of cystatin C in conditioned media was measured using Western blot and shown in figure 12C. As suspected, donor 3 who had the highest macrophage cathepsin activity but the least invasion also had the highest amount of cystatin C which could inhibit cathepsin activity in the system leading to lower invasion of cancer cells.

A study showed that activation of JNK/c-Jun[83] stimulates cathepsins activity. To investigate their role in mediating donor-specific differences in cathepsin activity and invasion, we collected monocyte lysates on days 1, 3, 6 and 9 and measured phosphorylation of six kinases: ERK1/2, Akt, p38 MAPK, JNK, c-jun and IkB-a. In order to identify kinase signals that contribute most significantly toward proteolytic and invasion outcomes, we trained a PLSR model where kinase signals were a signaling matrix (X) and the outcomes were the response matrix (Y). Based on calculation of VIP scores, phosphorylation of JNK/c-Jun and Akt was determined to be important in determining the outcomes. Activation of Akt has been associated with either increase[86] or decrease[209] in cell motility and invasion.

4.3.2 JNK inhibition reduces macrophage cathepsin activity and cystatin C level specifically among the subset of donors with high cathepsin activity

Based on the VIP scores as well as on previous studies that suggested role of JNK activation in cathepsin activity, we tested the hypothesis that inhibiting JNK/c-Jun pathway will reduce macrophage cathepsin activity and subsequent invasion of cancer cells. Freshly isolated monocytes from 12 donors were treated with SP600126 (50μ M, JNK inhibitor II, EMD Millipore) for 14 days. The inhibitor was added freshly with each media change on days 1, 3, 6 and 9. On day 14, differentiation media was replaced with serum free RPMI and lysates and conditioned media were collected after



Figure 12: Interdonor variability in cancer cell invasion is mediated by donor-to-donor variability in macrophage cathepsin activity and cystatin C level (A) Monocytes isolated from five donors among the first set were stimulated with M-CSF for 14 days to differentiated them into macrophages. Conditioned media was collected from days 14-15 and loaded for cathepsin zymography to measure secreted cathepsin activity which was quantified through densitometry. (B) On day 14, differentiated macrophages were plated onto a transwell inserts coated with Matrigel with or without MCF-7 breast cancer cells. After 24 hours, number of invaded breast cancer cells were counted and invasion index was calculated. (C) The amount of cystatin C in conditioned media was measured using Western blotting. (D) On days 1, 3, 6 and 9, differentiating monocytes were lysed, and kinase signals were quantified using Bioplex technology.



Figure 13: JNK inhibition reduces macrophage cathepsin activity and cystatin C level specifically among subset of donors with high cathepsin activity Freshly isolated monocytes from the same 5 donors were treated with SP600126 (50μ M, JNK inhibitor II, EMD Milipore) or LY294002 (2.5μ M, PI3K inhibitor, EMD Milipore) for 14 days. The inhibitor was added freshly with each media change on days 1, 3, 6 and 9. On day 14, differentiation media was replaced with serum free RPMI and lysates and conditioned media were collected after incubating cells for 14-16 hours. Cathepsin activity was measured using multiplex cathepsin zymography (A) and cystatin C level was measured with ELISA (R&D Systems) (B).

incubating cells for 14-16 hours. Cathepsin activity was measured using multiplex cathepsin zymography and cystatin C level was measured with ELISA (R&D Systems). There was a significant decrease in secreted cathepsin activity in macrophages from 4 out of 12 donors. Additionally, macrophages from 2 other donors showed a trend toward reduction in secreted cathepsin activity (Figure 13A). Interestingly, four of these donors had the highest cathepsin activity before inhibiting JNK. Cystatin C was reduced in macrophages isolated from donors 1, 3 and 11 (Figure 13B). No clear correlations were found between JNK regulation of cathepsin and cystatin C.

4.3.3 JNK inhibition reduced MDM-mediated cancer cell invasion for highly invasive donors

As was shown earlier, both cathepsin activity and cystatin C levels from macrophages influence cancer cell invasion. Therefore, we tested the hypothesis that the macrophages with high cathepsin activity or low cystatin C level will have the highest invasive potential. Differentiated macrophages treated with JNK inhibitors were co-cultured with MCF-7 breast cancer cells for collagen I invasion assay. After treating differentiating monocytes with JNK inhibitor for 13 days, as described earlier. On day 13, macrophages were stained with CellTracker Blue CMAC (Invitrogen) and plated with MCF-7 breast cancer cells. On day 14, following serum starvation for 4 hours, cells were overlayed with 2.5mg/ml collagen I (Invitrogen) and media was added. After 24 hours, the collagen discs were fixed and the percentage of breast cancer cells invading at least 20 μ m into the collagen was determined by taking 5 μ m optical sections with a confocal microscope (Figure 15). Inhibiting JNK in differentiating macrophages reduced invasion of cancer cells co-cultured with macrophages from donors 8, 10 and 11. Their macrophages had the greatest invasive potential before JNK inhibition.

4.3.4 JNK inhibition reduces interdonor variability in macrophage cathepsin activity

Based on the results regarding donor-specific decreases in cathepsin activity after JNK inhibition, we re-examine the effects of JNK inhibition for all donors as one cohort, instead of for each donor. Population variance between the two groups were compared using Brown-Forsythe test and variance was shown to be significantly reduced after JNK inhibition (Figure 16 A). Variability in Cystatin C level was not affected by JNK inhibition, but there was slight reduction in cancer cell invasion. To test that this reduction in variance is specific to JNK inhibition, we inhibited Akt, another kinase with high VIP scores, in differentiating monocytes and measured cathepsin activity, cystatin C level and invasion. There was no significant change in the variance with



Figure 14: JNK inhibition significantly reduced MDM-mediated cancer cell invasion for highly invasive donors (A, B) After inhibiting JNK in differentiating monocytes for 12 days, monocyte-derived macrophages were co-cultured with MCF-7 breast cancer cell line for collagen I invasion assay. MDM-mediated cancer cell invasion was significantly reduced among the donors with highest invasion (donors 8, 10 and 11).

Akt inhibition.(Figures 16 B, C). A scores plot of PLSR model trained with cathepsin activity, cystatin C level and invasion shows clustering of macrophages treated with JNK inhibitors (Figure 16 D).

4.3.5 JNK inhibition selectively reduces cathepsin activity and invasion for donors with JNK^{low} monocytes

Because JNK inhibition reduced macrophage cathepsin activity and cancer cell invasion among the donors with high cathepsin activity, we investigated if there are distinguishing characteristics of circulating monocytes that can be identified without differentiating them into macrophages for multiple days. We hypothesized that the donor macrophages with higher cathepsin activity will have high monocyte cathepsin activity and JNK activation. To test this, we isolated monocytes from all 12 donors using magnetic activated cell sorting and lysed the cells to measure their cathepsin activity and activated kinase signals. Monocytes isolated from donors 8, 9, 11 and 12 had high cathepsin activity but no detectable amount of activated JNK (Figure 16A). P10 also had no detectable amount of activated JNK but also no monocyte cathepsin activity. These results suggest although there is no apparent correlation between monocyte and macrophage cathepsin activity, for the donors with p-JNK^{low} monocytes, inhibiting JNK in macrophages reduces cathepsin activity as well as macrophage-mediated cancer cell invasion.

4.4 Discussion

In the current study, we show that interdonor variability in cancer cell invasion is associated with the donor variability in macrophage cathepsin activity and cystatin C level. Although we acknowledge that the tumor microenvironment is extremely diverse in terms of cellular population, cytokines, and growth factors, we were able to isolate the effects of variability in donor macrophage phenotype on cancer cell invasion by creating an *in vitro* model of cancer cell invasion where these facets can



Figure 15: JNK inhibition reduces donor-to-donor variability in macrophage cathepsin activity (A) When macrophage cathepsin activity, cystatin C levels and cancer cell invasion were compared between treatment groups for the entire donor cohort, there was significant reduction in macrophage cathepsin activity after JNK inhibition as well as significant different in variance between the two groups. PI3K did not reduce cathepsin activity significantly (B, C) Inhibiting JNK or PI3K did not reduce cystatin C level or invasion significantly for the entire cohort. (D) A PLSR scores plot for a model trained with cathepsin and cystatin C level as signals and invasion as a response depicts the reduction in donor variability in macrophage phenotype upon JNK inhibition



Figure 16: JNK inhibition reduces macrophage cathepsin activity and cancer cell invasion among donors with p-JNK^{low} monocytes (A) Freshly isolated monocytes were lysed for multiplex cathepsin zymography or Bioplex kinase assays to measure cathepsin activity or kinase activation. Three kinases that were important for macrophage cathepsin activity are shown in the heat map. (B, C) Cathepsin activity and invasion was reduced significantly among donors 8, 9, 10, 11 with low to undetectable level of activated JNK.

be controlled and limited. When the effects of JNK inhibition were examined across all the donors as one cohort, only cathepsin activity was shown to be decreased, but other donor-specific responses for cystatins and invasion were masked by the population variance. However, upon examining individual responses, we were also able to reduce invasion among donors whose macrophages have high invasive potential by inhibiting JNK/c-Jun pathway in differentiating monocytes. Notably, inhibiting JNK increased invasive potential for macrophages from donor 2. This finding may have important implications for personalized medicine approaches as although donor cohort studies reveal important mechanistic information, each donor, especially those who are outliers need to be examined individually for accurate diagnosis or treatment. Moreover, with the increased development of small molecule inhibitors to treat cancer, which modulate receptor kinase domains that are upstream of JNK such as EGF receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors, it is crucial to understand the off-target effects on these inhibitors on other constituents of tumor tissues including TAMs. Alterations in those upstream targets could reduce or enhance pro-tumorigenic properties of TAMs on donor-specific basis.

We also showed that although cysteine cathepsins from macrophages are important determinants of cancer cell invasion, ratio between macrophage and cystatin C also contributes toward invasion. It is not known whether there is any transcriptional or signaling feedback mechanism between cathepsins and their inhibitor cystatins. This mechanism should be investigated further as the implications for this mechanism in regards to proper dosing of the inhibitors to minimize adverse effects extend far beyond treatment of cancer. Cathepsin inhibitors have been suggested for adjuvant therapy for cancer and many other cathepsin inhibitors are in clinical trials to treat osteoporosis as well as inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. [24, 39, 45, 154, 12]

Not much is known about the signaling pathways that regulate cathepsin activity

and cystatin C levels or whether their regulation is connected. A study showed TNFalpha increases cathepsin activity in endothelial cells via JNK pathway.[83] From the current study, we observe that inhibiting JNK decrease macrophage cathepsin activity for the donor cohort and cystatin C for selected donors suggesting a potential connection between JNK and cystatin C expression. The JNK pathway has been implicated in macrophage differentiation and polarization.[150, 68, 65] Although it is not in the scope of the current study, when expression of macrophage marker CD68 was examined using flow cytometry for donor 3 in the cohort, more than 90% percent of the macrophages treated with JNK and PI3K inhibitor expressed CD68. These cells also seemed to exhibit different macrophage subtypes between the treatment groups, suggesting that JNK inhibition may drive them toward M2-phenotype and Akt inhibition toward M1-phenotype. Studies on cysteine cathepsin expression in different macrophage subtypes is limited but can have interesting implications not only in cancer but other diseases such as atherosclerosis, where M1 and M2 macrophages either contribute to or protect against disease development and progression

Lastly, we also show that individuals with p-JNK^{low} circulating monocytes had the greatest macrophage cathepsin activity and invasion potential and these were significantly reduced upon JNK inhibition. This finding suggests that subset of patients may benefit from multifactorial screening that will include not only profiling tumor cells but also infiltrating and circulating monocytes for personalized prognosis and treatment regimen.

CHAPTER V

PROTEOLYTIC PROFILE OF M1/M2 MACROPHAGES AND INTERPATIENT VARIABILITY IN MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION

5.1 Introduction

Tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) that are differentiated from circulating monocytes promote angiogenesis, [102, 103, 104, 37, 165, 131] tumor growth [103], invasion and metastasis [109] through secretion of tissue-remodeling cathepsin proteases and cytokines to coordinate tumor-promoting immune responses. [6, 175, 120, 121] Moreover, infiltration of TAMs is often associated with poor prognosis. [34, 97, 100, 102, 22] When stimulated by distinctive cytokines, monocytes differentiate into tumorsuppressive M1 type macrophages or tumor-promoting M2 type macrophages [175], the latter being the dominant phenotype of TAMs. [175, 125] TAM/M2 type macrophages express CD206 and CD163 on their surface and secrete immunosuppressive cytokines such as IL-10[211], transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), CCL18[91] and CCL225. Unlike their counterpart, M1 macrophages are potent tumor-suppressing cells that express CCR7 on their surface and produce iNOS, IL-1 β and TNF α . [124] Functional correlations between M1/M2 phenotypes, their cathepsin protease activity profile, and the consequences this profile has in supporting or suppressing tumor growth remain to be investigated.

In atherosclerosis, monocytes differentiate and polarize into M1 or M2 macrophage subtypes in vascular walls based on the cues they have received from their environment.[140] Studies suggest that M2 (or alternatively activated) macrophages are anti-inflammatory and anti-atherosclerotic, whereas, M1 (or classically activated) macrophages are proinflammatory and pro-atherosclerotic.[13, 14, 166, 126, 67] As atherosclerotic plaque development progresses, the population balance shifts from M2 macrophage-dominant to M1 macrophage-dominant[85] suggesting that the balance between M1 and M2 macrophages are important for the progression and severity of atherosclerosis.[123] Protease activity profiles of different macrophage subtypes that remodel vascular tissue also remain to be elucidated

It is not known whether there is interpatient variability in M1/M2 macrophage ratio. Also unknown is its implication on type of disease different individuals are susceptible to, or on their propensity for greater tissue remodeling and disease progression. However, based on the findings that TAMS with M2 phenotype secrete cathepsins to promote tumor growth and our finding showing interpatient variability in macrophage cathepsin activity, we test they hypothesis that M2 macrophage have greater cathepsin activity and that the patients with greater macrophage cathepsin activity have a lower M1/M2 ratio.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Primary monocyte isolation, differentiation and polarization

Heparinized venous blood from healthy volunteers was diluted 1:1 in sterile PBS, layered on Ficoll-Paque (GE healthcare), and centrifuged at 400g for 30 minutes. The buffy coat layer was isolated, red blood cells lysed, and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were washed 3 times in PBS. Monocytes adhered overnight were cultured in RPMI containing 10% male human AB serum and $30 \text{ng}/\mu \text{l}$ macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF, Peprotech). Medium was replaced every 3 days. In some cases, differentiating macrophages were stimulated with IFN γ +/- LPS for M1 polarization and with IL-4 for M2 polarization in addition to M-CSF.
5.2.2 Flow cytometry

To determine M1/M2 polarization, macrophages were differentiated for 14 days, followed by harvesting and collection via centrifugation on day 15. Fc receptors were blocked using blocking buffer solution (Biolegend Human TruStain FcXTM) for 10 minutes in room temperature. Cells were then labeled with the following antibodies: PE-Cy5-CD11b, PE-CD163, APC-CD206, APC-Cy7-CCR7 (Biolegend) for 20 minutes in 4 °C in the dark. Cells were washed twice, then fixed with 4% formaldehyde for 20 minutes in the dark at room temperature. Following permeabilization using 0.02% Triton X-100, cells were stained with FITC-CD68 (Biolegend). Either isotype controls or Fluoresecnet Minus One (FMO) controls were used for fluorescence compensation. Cells were analyzed using BD LSRII, BD Aria Cell Sorter or BD Accuri and sorted using BD FACSAria (BD Biosciences).

5.2.3 Multiplex cathepsin zymography

 Coomassie blue, and imaged using an ImageQuant LAS 4000 (GE Healthcare). Densitometry was performed using ImageJ to quantify the intensity of the white cleared band of proteolytic activity.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Interpatient variability in expression of M1/M2 phenotypic markers

Freshly isolated monocytes were differentiated into macrophages with M-CSF for 14 days. Cells were collected and labeled with monocyte/macrophage markers (CD11b and CD68), a M1 macrophage marker (CD197 or CCR7) and M2 macrophage markers (CD206 or mannose receptor and CD163). The expression level was measured using flow cytometry. Although M-CSF has been shown to promote M2 polarization,[127, 73] our results show that differentiated macrophages express both M1 and M2 markers with varying degrees of expression between donors (Figure 17).

5.3.2 IL-4 stimulation increases both mannose receptor (M2 marker) and CCR7 expression level (M1 marker)

Based on our finding that there are mixed subpopulations of macrophages for individual donors, we hypothesized that monocytes have been pre-conditioned by circulating factors prior to isolation. We stimulated differentiating monocytes with IL-4 which is known to promote M2 polarization. After 14 days, cells were collected and labeled with M1/M2 surface markers, and expression levels were measured using flow cytometry. IL-4 stimulation increased expression of CD206 (M2 marker) but decreased expression of another M2 marker CD163 (Figure 18 A,B) . Surprisingly, IL-4 stimulation also increased expression of M1 polarization marker CD197 (CCR7) (Figure 18 B).



Figure 17: Interpatient variability in expression of M1/M2 macrophage markers. Freshly isolated monocytes from 4 donors were simulated with 30ng/ml M-CSF for 14 days. Expression level of macrophage polarization markers were measured using flow cytometry. Among CD11b+/CD68+ macrophages, percentage of cells expressing CD163 (M2 marker), CD197 (CCR7, M1 marker) or CD206 (mannose receptor, M2 marker) was measured and compared between donors. There were cells expressing more then one marker.



Figure 18: IL-4 stimulation increases mannose receptor and CCR7 expression level but decrease CD163 expression Freshly isolated monocytes were stimulated with both M-CSF and IL-4 for 14 days as they differentiated into macrophages. (A) Co-stimulation with M-CSF and IL-4 increased the number of cells expressing CD206, but decreased CD163 expressing cells, both of which are M2 polarization markers. (B)IL-4 stimulation also increased CD197 (CCR7) which is known to be a M1 polarization marker.

5.3.3 M2 macrophages have higher cathepsin V and S activity; M1 macrophages have higher cathepsin L activity

Although M1 macrophages are traditionally known to be pro-inflammatory and M2 macrophages anti-inflammatory, not much is known about their distinct proteolytic profile. To investigate this, freshly isolated monocytes from 3 donors were stimulated with 30ng/ml M-CSF alone, 30ng/ml M-CSF + IL-4, M-CSF + IFN- γ or M-CSF + IFN- γ + LPS for 14 days as they differentiated into macrophages. On day 15, lysates were collected and loaded for multiplex cathepsin zymography. The amount of active cathepsins was quantified with densitometry and averaged across all three patients. As a population, IL-4 stimulation increased the amount of active 35kDa, 25kDa and 20kDa cathepsins. IFN- γ stimulation increased active 25kDa cathepsin level, while IFN- γ + LPS decreased active 35kDa and 25kDa cathepsins, but increased active 20kDa cathepsin level. (Figure 19)

5.3.4 IFN- γ stimulation increases cystatin C level.

In tissues, the amount of cathepsins that are proteolytically active is determined not only by the concentration of cathepsins but also by the amount of cystatin C bound to cathepsins which inhibits cathepsin activity. Therefore, we next measured cystatin C levels from conditioned media of differentiated and polarized macrophages. After stimulating differentiating monocytes with M-CSF alone, M-CSF + IL-4, M-CSF + IFN- γ , or M-CSF + IFN- γ + LPS for 14 days; conditioned media was collected from day 14-15, concentrated, and loaded for Western blotting to measure cystatin C level. IFN- γ stimulation increased cystatin C protein expression level. (Figure 20)

5.4 Discussion

Here we showed that there is patient-to-patient variability in macrophage polarization upon stimulation with M-CSF, a differentiation and survival factor for macrophages. We also showed that stimulating differentiating monocytes with IL-4, a cytokine



Figure 19: M2 macrophages have higher cathepsin V and S activity; M1 macrophages have higher cathepsin L activity Freshly isolated monocytes from donors were stimulated with M-CSF alone, M-CSF + IL-4 for M2 polarization, M-CSF + IFN- γ , or M-CSF + IFN- γ + LPS for M1 polarization for 14 days as they differentiated into macrophages. On day 15, lysates were collected and loaded for multiplex cathepsin zymography. The amount of active cathepsins was quantified. IL-4 stimulation increased the amount of active 35kDa, 25kDa and 20kDa cathepsins. IFN- γ stimulation increased active 25kDa cathepsin level, and IFN- γ + LPS decreased active 35kDa and 25kDa cathepsins, but increased active 20kDa cathepsin level.



Figure 20: IFN- γ stimulation (promoting M1 polarization) increases cystatin C level Freshly isolated monocytes from donors were stimulated with M-CSF alone, M-CSF + IL-4 for M2 polarization, M-CSF + IFN- γ , or M-CSF + IFN- γ + LPS for M1 polarization for 14 days as they differentiated into macrophages. On day 15, secreted cystatin C level was quantified using Western Blotting. IFN- γ stimulation, which promotes M1 polarization, increased cystatin C level.

known to drive M2 polarization, or IFN- γ , a cytokine known to drive M1 polarization, generates mixed population of M1/M2 macrophage cells, albeit there is dominant subtype. We also observed cells that co-express traditional M1/M2 markers. This finding is in line with the shifting paradigm in macrophage polarization that rather than the M1/M2 dichotomy, macrophages exist on a continuous spectrum.[140]

Roles of different macrophage subtypes in health and disease have been studied extensively.[174, 122] However, there is a gap in the knowledge of the proteolytic profile of different macrophage subtypes. As the macrophage subtypes, as well as cysteine cathepsins, play distinct roles at different stages of tissue-remodeling diseases including cancer and atherosclerosis, it would be greatly beneficial to better understand their remodeling capacity. Findings from this study showed that M2-phenotype, driven by IL-4 stimulation, has greater cathepsin V and S activity, whereas M1-phenotype, driven by IFN-gamma, has higher cathepsin L activity. With the finding that some patients have greater expression of M1 or M2 markers, one potential mechanism underlying interpatient variability in macrophage cathepsin activity we have identified is differential make up of M1/M2 macrophages between patients. With further studies to correlate M1/M2 ratio and the net protease activity with measurable disease outcomes such as tumor invasion, it can be used as an additional prognostic markers for personalized medicine.

CHAPTER VI

VARIABILITY IN MONOCYTE CATHEPSIN ACTIVITY AMONG PATIENTS WITH BREAST CANCER

6.1 Introduction

Approximately one in eight women in the United States will develop invasive breast cancer over the course of her lifetime. [142] Despite significant advances in breast cancer therapies, patient-to-patient variability in disease progression continues to complicate clinical decisions in diagnosis and treatment. [179, 152, 27, 40, 153, 180, 205] A recent study showed that the incidence of breast cancer overdiagnosis may be as high as 30%.[11] Many more studies and commentaries followed suggesting that the incidence of overdiagnosis is prevalent only among ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS), a benign form of breast tumor that has potential to become invasive cancer. Currently, there is no accurate method to predict that invasive potential, and some women decide to undergo radical mastectomy to prevent malignant progression. Until recently, many studies have focused on identifying characteristics of cancer cells themselves. However, it has become clear that tumor microenvironment, which encompasses tumor cells, stromal cells, recruited immune cells, including tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) plays crucial roles in determining behavior of cancer cells.[111, 43, 48, 28] TAMs that are differentiated from circulating monocytes promote angiogenesis, [102, 103, 104, 37, 165, 131] tumor growth [103], invasion and metastasis^[109] through secretion of cytokines to coordinate tumor-promoting immune responses [6, 175, 120, 121] as well as through secretion of tissue-remodeling cathepsin proteases. Moreover, infiltration of TAMs is often associated with poor prognosis. [34, 97, 100, 102, 22]

We have shown that in healthy donors, there is donor-to-donor variability in macrophage cathepsin activity, which contributes to variability in cancer cell invasion. Moreover, we have shown that for the donors with monocytes with low JNK activation, inhibiting JNK in during monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation reduces co-cultured cancer cell invasion. With that knowledge, now we investigate patientvariability in monocyte cathepsin activity and kinase activation state for women diagnosed with various stages of breast cancer the long-term goal of this study is to find early and non-invasive markers to identify patients who may develop invasive breast cancer. The hypothesis is that interpatient variability in monocyte kinase signatures and cathepsin activity persists despite disease-related cues that modify cellular behavior.

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Patients

Peripheral venous blood and breast tissues were obtained from female patients who are undergoing mastectomy. Patients were diagnosed with various stages of breast cancer including DCIS and invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC). Informed consent was obtained prior to surgery and is in accordance with protocol approved by Georgia Institute of Technology and Dekalb Medical Center (Decatur, GA).

6.2.2 Primary monocyte isolation

Heparinized venous blood from female patients with benign and malignant breast tumors was diluted 1:1 in sterile PBS and layered on Ficoll-Paque (GE healthcare) and centrifuged at 400g for 30 minutes. The buffy coat layer was isolated, red blood cells lysed, and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were washed 3 times in PBS. CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes were isolated using Pan-monocyte magnetic bead isolation kit (Milteny) and lysates were collected for Bioplex kinase assay and multiplex cathepsin zymography

6.2.3 Multiplex cathepsin zymography

Cell extracts from monocytes and cell extracts and conditioned media from macrophages were collected. Non-cancerous breast tissues were homogenized using homogenizer and sonicator and lysates were collected and cleared by centrifugation. To prepare conditioned media, differentiation media was replaced with serum-free media on day 14 and incubated overnight. Conditioned media was collected and concentrated using VivaSpin®500 Centrifugal Concentrator (Vivaproducts). Cellular protein was extracted in lysis buffer (20 nM Tris-HCl at pH 7.5, 5 mM EGTA, 150 mM NaCl, 20 mM β -glycerol-phosphate, 10 mM NaF, 1 mM sodium orthoxanadate, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% Tween-20) with 0.1 mM leupeptin freshly added. Cathepsin zymography was performed on cell extracts and on conditioned media as described previously [202] Briefly, equal amounts of protein in non-reducing loading buffer were separated on 12.5% SDS-polyacrylamide gels containing 0.2% gelatin at 4 °C. Enzymes were renatured and then the gels were incubated overnight at 37 °C in phosphate buffer, pH 6 with 1 mM EDTA and freshly added 2mM DTT. Gels were then rinsed, stained with Coomassie blue, and imaged using an ImageQuant LAS 4000 (GE Healthcare). Densitometry was performed using ImageJ to quantify the intensity of the white cleared band of proteolytic activity.

6.2.4 Detection of CD68

To measure tissue expression level of CD68, non-cancerous breast tissue lysates were loaded for Western blotting. Anti-CD68 antibody (Biolegend, 1:500 dilution) was used. Signals were detected using LI-COR Odyssey.

6.2.5 Kinase phosphorylation analysis

Freshly isolated monocytes were lysed and total protein was determined using BCA kit (Pierce). Bioplex (B bead kits (BioRad) were used according to manufacturers instructions with 5 μ g protein from each sample and measured phosphorylation of

ERK1/2 (Thr²⁰²/Tyr²⁰⁴, Thr¹⁸⁵/Tyr¹⁸⁷), Akt (Ser⁴⁷³), p38 MAPK (Thr¹⁸⁰/Tyr¹⁸²), JNK (Thr¹⁸³/Tyr¹⁸⁵), c-jun (Ser⁶³), NF κ B p65 (Ser⁵³⁶) and I κ B- α (Ser³²/Ser³⁶). Signal values for each phosphorylated kinase were normalized to the signal detected in a master lysate prepared in bulk from pre-stimulated cells that was used as a control for all assays. Signal values for each kinase were normalized to maximum values for each kinase.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Interpatient variability in kinase activation signatures and cathepsin activity of circulating monocytes from breast cancer patients

To test the hypothesis that disease conditions do not obliterate patient variability in kinase signatures and proteolytic activity of monocytes, we isolated circulating PBMCs from female patients diagnosed with various stages of breast cancer. Whole PBMCs or monocytes were isolated using magnetic activated cell sorting (MACS) (Milteny) and lysed for cathepsin zymography and Bioplex kinase assays. (Figure 21A, B) For the first patient cohort, individual active cathepsins were quantified separately (35 kDa, 25 kDa and 20 kDa). For the second cohort, the amount of total active cathepsins was quantified (Figure 21C, D). There is clear patient-to-patient variability in monocyte cathepsin activity within the patient population. In particular, zymographic analysis of patient 4 shows uniquely high amounts of cathepsin activity at 37kDa band, which we have identified to be cathepsin K. As we have seen in healthy donor populations, there are patients who has JNK^{low}monocytes (P1, 6 and 7), which may have higher cathepsin activity and invasion potential upon differentiating into macrophages.



Figure 21: Interpatient variability in monocyte cathepsin activity and kinase activation signatures among patients with breast cancer. Circulating PBMCs were isolated from female patients diagnosed with various stages of breast cancer. Whole PBMCs or monocytes were isolated using magnetic beads isolation and lysed for cathepsin zymography and Bioplex kinase assays. (A,B) Zymograph and phosphorylated kinase measurements from a first cohort of patients are shown. Active among of individual cathepsins (35 kDa, 25 kDa and 20 kDa) are quantified separately. (C,D) Zymograph and phosphorylated kinase measurements from the second cohort of patients are shown. The amount of total active cathepsins was quantified.

6.3.2 Interpatient variability in cathepsin activity and number of macrophages in non-cancerous breast tissues from female patients with breast cancer

Next we tested the hypothesis that when the circulating monocytes enter tissues, whether in healthy or disease states, the patient-specific proteolytic profile of monocytederived macrophages is maintained. Non-cancerous breast tissues from the first cohort were obtained following mastectomy. Then the tissues were homogenized, lysates were collected and loaded for multiplex cathepsin zymography and Western blotting to detect macrophage CD68 expression levels. Patient 2 whose monocytes had the greatest cathepsin activity had the lowest cathepsin activity from breast tissue lysates (Figure 22A). Patient 1 with undetectable monocyte cathepsin activity was shown to have highest cathepsin activity and macrophage concentration in the tissue. (Figure 22B)

6.4 Discussion

In this study, we have shown that disease conditions do not eliminate patient-topatient variability in monocyte kinase activation or cathepsin activity. There were also patients whose monocytes had low level of JNK activation, which in healthy cohort was shown to have greater cathepsin activity and invasion potential when differentiated into macrophages (Figure 16). Also JNK inhibition most effectively reduced macrophage cathepsin activity and cancer cell invasion for these healthy donors as well (Figures 13 and 14). Although it still remains to be investigated whether individual patients pre-disease monocyte kinase signature and cathepsin activity profile is conserved through development and progression of breast cancer, findings from these patients introduces the exciting possibility of reducing invasiveness for patients with the most aggressive tumors. Furthermore, monocyte kinase and cathepsin profiling would serve as a minimally invasive method to perform at patients initial visit that can inform chemotherapy regimens, as well as invasive potential of non-malignant



Figure 22: Interpatient variability in cathepsin activity and number of macrophages in non-cancerous breast tissues from female patients with breast cancer After patients underwent mastectomy, non-cancerous part of breast tissue was collected, homogenized and loaded for multiplex cathepsin zymography to measure the amount of active cathepsins (A) and Western blotting to quantify expression of macrophage marker CD68 (B).

DCIS, which has the highest incidence of overdiganosis.

It has long been suggested that chronic inflammatory states can lead to development of cancer.[6] Tumor microenvironment is comprised of myriad of immune cells and immune modulators that supports or fights cancer development.[28, 66, 173] Furthermore, recent studies have identified circulating factors or circulating tumor cells that is upregulated at different stages of cancer and can be used as a biomarker.[30] All these cues could potentially interact with circulating monocytes and the monocytes that enter tumor tissue and can affect their phenotype and proteolytic activity. Taken together, it remains to be investigated whether disease state leads to a distinct shift in kinase signatures and if so, whether the distinct individual kinase signature is still maintained despite this shift.

The results from the previous chapter suggested that individual donors could have intrinsically different M1/M2 macrophage ratio and that macrophage subtypes may have distinct cathepsin activity profile. In some cancers, M2 macrophages, or tumorassociated macrophages have been shown to promote tumor progression and are associated with poor prognosis.[95, 130] Distinct cytokines that are present in tumor microenvironment drives macrophage polarization. Therefore it should be investigated whether monocyte kinase signatures and cathepsin activity profile is maintained once they differentiate into macrophages in breast tissues, both in healthy conditions and within tumor tissues as well as whether there is predictable correlation between them. In addition, it is also unknown whether this intrinsic macrophage subtype ratio is maintained in tumor microenvironment and whether they are predictive of disease trajectory, and whether different stages of breast cancer have distinguishing monocyte kinase signature and proteolytic profile.

This study also provides a basis for in vivo studies to determine the efficacy of targeted inhibition of JNK activation in monocytes with the long-term goal of reducing invasion of the most invasive tumors. As JNK inhibition has been shown to decrease breast cancer cell proliferation and promote apoptosis, [137] there may be a synergistic benefit in targeting the pathway. Through patient-specific analysis of monocyte kinase signature and cathepsin activity, it maybe possible to identify the right candidates for this adjuvant therapy for personalized cancer therapy.

CHAPTER VII

DISCUSSIONS

As a whole, this work was aimed to address the issues of patient variability in disease contributing phenotypes by monocyte-derived cells with special emphasis on cysteine cathepsin which mediated tissue destructive diseases namely, breast cancer. Many studies have investigated patient variability at the genomic level, with the goal of achieving personalized predictive medicine. These studies revealed helpful insights, but there are many regulatory steps between information coded in genes down to where cells are executing various functions with number of factors such as cytokines, kinases and proteases. The main contribution of the current work to the field of personalized medicine is showing that patient-variability in disease progression can be influenced by variability in cellular proteolytic activity, which can be predicted by multivariate analysis of set of kinases. As discussed previously, there are bevy of circulating factors, such as cytokines and hormones that modulates monocyte behavior but cannot be measured explicitly. However, by using a systems biology approach to link cell differentiation cues and responses through the integration of signals at the kinase level, where integration of ubiquitous information is processed intelligently by the differentiating cell, we were able to mathematically predict relative amounts of cathepsin activity and distinguish the donors with higher cathepsin activity. Implication of this finding in furthering personalized medicine is that with the analysis of kinase signatures of monocytes isolated through a simple blood draw from individuals, patient-specific disease potential could be predicted without extensive profiling of cytokines and other circulating factors.

Cathepsin activity has been mechanistically linked to malignant transformation,

angiogenesis, tumor invasion, growth, metastasis in context of tumor, [138, 55, 81, 207, 178, 21, 90, 203, 62, 197, 172, 143, 110, 57, 200] to transmigration of monocytes, macrophage lipid metabolism, elastic lamina degradation and plaque rupture in the context of atherosclerosis. [157, 158, 156, 185, 117, 26] Because of this, tissue levels of cathepsins are not just surrogates, but functional biomarkers whose level could be directly correlated to disease progression and inform treatment strategy. Cathepsin B, in particular, perhaps due to its abundance in cells, has been investigated as biomarker for cancer over 30 years. [176] Cysteine cathepsins K, L, S, V and X have been investigated as well with mixed success. [10, 46] However, it has been difficult to reliably measure the amount of individual active cathepsins, as cathepsins are very closely related structurally. In addition, the ubiquitous presence of the endogenous inhibitors, cystatins and stefins can interfere with accurate measurement of active cathepsins. There is also a lack of a consensus to report cathepsin gene expression, pre-, mature-, or total cathepsin protein level or activity level as biomarkers. The later obstacle could be attributed to substrate cross reactivity and closely related enzyme structure. Much effort has also been made to inhibit cathepsin activities for therapeutic values. [154, 193, 151, 198] The most heavily targeted cysteine cathepsin is cathepsin K for its role in bone resorption that occurs during osteoporosis and bone metastasis. [99, 18] However, only the cathepsin K inhibitor, odanacatib successfully completed phase III clinical trial. [182] Most clinical trials were halted due to side effects or lack of therapeutic efficacy. Both biomarker studies and drug trials investigate the patient cohort as a one large unit instead of examining individual differences. This approach is necessary of course to elucidate disease-specific mechanisms, biomarkers or treatment efficacy with statistical power. However, interpatient variability can reduce statistical power and can negate patient-specific effects. For example, it was shown in the current study that on a population level, there seemed to be no significant effect on cystatin C level and cancer cell invasion upon inhibiting JNK in differentiating monocytes. However, when examined closely at the individual patient level, there were patients who indeed responded to the inhibition with decrease or increase in these outcomes. Although identifying patient-specific biomarkers and responses to therapy can be time consuming and cost-prohibitive, personalized approach is becoming much more feasible and potentially more efficient and effective with the rapid advancement in computational biology and omic-scale analysis,[147, 54, 195] This work suggests that in addition to genomic and metabolomics analysis, personalized medicine could benefit from systems-scale analysis of kinases and proteolytic networks.

Furthermore, studies have shown that macrophages and cathepsins can blunt the effect of chemotherapeutic agents.[172, 32, 5] Although, there are many tumor-specific and patient-specific factors that confers resistance to chemotherapies,[35, 210] results from this study suggest a potential new mechanism of resistance for certain patients. Specifically, patients with higher macrophage cathepsin activity may have greater potential for developing resistance. However, the finding that among these patients, JNK inhibition effectively reduces macrophage cathepsin activity can be used to improve treatment efficacy of main chemotherapeutics through reduced resistance.

Results from this work also suggested donor-to-donor variability in the makeup of polarized macrophage subtypes. Although traditionally, macrophage polarization was known to be a dichotomy, now studies have shown there is a continuous spectrum of macrophage phenotypes and they can switch between the subtypes based on environmental cues.[174, 140] For example, in atheroma, a heterogeneous population of macrophage subtypes are found, where the M1-phenotype promotes inflammation and atherogenesis and M2-phenotype is atheroprotective.[123] In the current work, when donor monocytes were stimulated with a single cue, M-CSF, resultant macrophage population displayed mixed M1 and M2 phenotypic markers. We can hypothesize that patient-specific circulating cues have primed monocytes prior to isolation, driving preferential polarization. These phenomena may lead to a greater propensity for inflammatory diseases or provide greater protection against them. Further investigation on this interpatient variability could reveal additional predictive metric for patient-specific disease potential.

Disease state introduces an altered or new set of cues that can modulate proteolytic behavior of circulating monocytes and differentiating macrophages that have entered tumor tissue or developing plaques. Questions have been raised whether disease conditions equalize or reduce patient-to-patient variability by preconditioning circulating cells with similar disease-specific cues. Results from this work suggest that the patient-variability is maintained. Further work with a larger patient cohort along with the comparison to a healthy population will be able to more clearly elucidate the effect of disease state on patient-variability. However, we were able to identify patients with monocytes with low JNK activation. In the healthy population, monocytes from these individuals when differentiated into macrophages had high cathepsin activity and invasive potential, which were significantly reduced upon JNK inhibition. Therefore it is promising that these metrics can be used to identify breast cancer patients who may be develop more aggressive cancer and can benefit from targeted JNK inhibition.

Findings from the current study could be applied to other tissue-destructive diseases mediated by cathepsins and monocyte-derived cells such as macrophages. Atherosclerosis is another tissue remodeling diseases where cathepsins and macrophages have been shown to play key roles in disease development and progression.[31, 88, 115, 114, 116, 185, 184, 24, 186, 117] The earliest changes that leads to atherosclerosis occurs in endothelial layers at sites of low, and oscillatory shear stress such as arches and bifurcations. Cathepsin expression and activity is regulated by shear

stress and low and oscillatory shear stress have been shown to upregulate expression and activity of cathepsins K and L by endothelial cells. [157, 158, 156] Cathepsin S was shown to aid macrophage transmigration through endothelial monolayer in vitro. 185 Cathepsins also play roles in lipid metabolism, which furthers atherosclerotic plaque formation.[117] In turn, increased levels of oxidized LDL, which leads to foam cell formation, was shown to disrupt lysosomal membrane, leading to relocation of cathepsins B and L to cytoplasm. [26] As atherosclerosis progresses, cathepsins secreted by macrophages degrade elastic lamina and facilitate migration of smooth muscle cells, which produces collagen as well as cathepsin K, into neointimal space. Higher plaque collagen content is correlated with increased plaque stability. Furthermore, the pathophysiological importance of cathepsins in atherosclerosis has been demonstrated in double-knockout mice deficient in apolipoprotein E (ApoE) and cathepsins K, S or L, which showed a reduction in the number and size of atherosclerotic lesions, decreased fragmentation of the elastic lamina, and decreased plaque rupture.[116, 184, 164, 88] Double-knockout mice deficient in ApoE and Cystatin C experienced an increase in atherosclerosis. [9] Even osteoclasts have been implicated in later stages of atherosclerotic plaque calcification and shown to be differentiated from infiltrated monocytes. [2, 1, 133] Therefore, findings from this study has an implication that those individuals with greater cellular cathepsin activities may have greater propensity of developing atherosclerotic plaques or greater risk of plaque rupture and merits further investigation for personalized medicine strategies.

Patient-to-patient variability seen in these diseases has been an added challenge for physicians to properly diagnose and treat their patients. This work demonstrates that interpatient variability at the level of cellular protease activity and other diseasemediating phenotypes must be examined in addition to genomic analysis. Incorporating this knowledge for patient-specific diagnosis and treatment can bring physicians one-step closer to the ultimate goal of personalized medicine.

CHAPTER VIII

CONCLUSIONS

Cathepsins have long been investigated as biomarkers and therapeutic targets in cancer and cardiovascular diseases. Patient-to-patient variability seen in these diseases has been an added challenge for physicians to properly diagnose and treat their patients. This work illustrates the importance of investigating interpatient variability not only at the genomic level, but also at the level of cellular protease activity and other phenotypes that mediate disease progression. Incorporating this knowledge for patient-specific diagnosis and treatment can bring physicians one-step closer to the ultimate goal of personalized medicine.

REFERENCES

- [1] "2010," pp. 1–11, Aug. 2010.
- [2] AARONSON, D. S. and HORVATH, C. M., "A road map for those who don't know JAK-STAT.," *Science*, vol. 296, pp. 1653–1655, May 2002.
- [3] AB, U., Multi- and Megavariate Data Analysis: Basic principles and applications. MKS Umetrics AB, 2006.
- [4] ALLINEN, M., BEROUKHIM, R., CAI, L., BRENNAN, C., LAHTI-DOMENICI, J., HUANG, H., PORTER, D., HU, M., CHIN, L., RICHARDSON, A., SCHNITT, S., SELLERS, W. R., and POLYAK, K., "Molecular characterization of the tumor microenvironment in breast cancer.," *Cancer Cell*, vol. 6, pp. 17–32, July 2004.
- [5] AMIT, M. and GIL, Z., "Macrophages increase the resistance of pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells to gemcitabine by upregulating cytidine deaminase.," Oncoimmunology, vol. 2, p. e27231, Dec. 2013.
- [6] BALKWILL, F. and MANTOVANI, A., "Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow?," *The Lancet*, vol. 357, pp. 539–545, Feb. 2001.
- [7] BARRY, Z. T. and PLATT, M. O., "Cathepsin S cannibalism of cathepsin K as a mechanism to reduce type I collagen degradation.," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, June 2012.
- [8] BEDARD, P. L., HANSEN, A. R., RATAIN, M. J., and SIU, L. L., "Tumour heterogeneity in the clinic.," *Nature*, vol. 501, pp. 355–364, Sept. 2013.
- [9] BENGTSSON, A. K., RYAN, E. J., GIORDANO, D., MAGALETTI, D. M., and CLARK, E. A., "17beta-estradiol (E2) modulates cytokine and chemokine expression in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells.," *Blood*, vol. 104, pp. 1404– 1410, Sept. 2004.
- [10] BERDOWSKA, I., "Cysteine proteases as disease markers.," Clinica chimica acta; international journal of clinical chemistry, vol. 342, pp. 41–69, Apr. 2004.
- [11] BLEYER, A. and WELCH, H. G., "Effect of three decades of screening mammography on breast-cancer incidence.," New England Journal of Medicine, vol. 367, pp. 1998–2005, Nov. 2012.
- [12] BOONEN, S., ROSENBERG, E., CLAESSENS, F., VANDERSCHUEREN, D., and PAPAPOULOS, S., "Inhibition of cathepsin K for treatment of osteoporosis.," *Current osteoporosis reports*, vol. 10, pp. 73–79, Mar. 2012.

- [13] BOUHLEL, M. A., DERUDAS, B., RIGAMONTI, E., DIÈVART, R., BROZEK, J., HAULON, S., ZAWADZKI, C., JUDE, B., TORPIER, G., MARX, N., STAELS, B., and CHINETTI-GBAGUIDI, G., "PPARgamma activation primes human monocytes into alternative M2 macrophages with anti-inflammatory properties.," *Cell metabolism*, vol. 6, pp. 137–143, Aug. 2007.
- [14] BOYLE, J. J., HARRINGTON, H. A., PIPER, E., ELDERFIELD, K., STARK, J., LANDIS, R. C., and HASKARD, D. O., "Coronary intraplaque hemorrhage evokes a novel atheroprotective macrophage phenotype.," *The American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 174, pp. 1097–1108, Mar. 2009.
- [15] BOYLE, W. J., SIMONET, W. S., and LACEY, D. L., "Osteoclast differentiation and activation.," *Nature*, vol. 423, pp. 337–342, May 2003.
- [16] BRIX, K., DUNKHORST, A., MAYER, K., and JORDANS, S., "Cysteine cathepsins: cellular roadmap to different functions.," *Biochimie*, vol. 90, pp. 194–207, Feb. 2008.
- [17] BRÖMME, D. and OKAMOTO, K., "Human cathepsin O2, a novel cysteine protease highly expressed in osteoclastomas and ovary molecular cloning, sequencing and tissue distribution.," *Biological chemistry Hoppe-Seyler*, vol. 376, pp. 379–384, June 1995.
- [18] BRÖMME, D. and LECAILLE, F., "Cathepsin K inhibitors for osteoporosis and potential off-target effects.," *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, vol. 18, pp. 585–600, May 2009.
- [19] BÜHLING, F., GERBER, A., HÄCKEL, C., KRÜGER, S., KÖHNLEIN, T., BRÖMME, D., REINHOLD, D., ANSORGE, S., and WELTE, T., "Expression of cathepsin K in lung epithelial cells.," *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, vol. 20, pp. 612–619, Apr. 1999.
- [20] BÜHLING, F., WALDBURG, N., KRÜGER, S., RÖCKEN, C., WIESNER, O., WEBER, E., and WELTE, T., "Expression of cathepsins B, H, K, L, and S during human fetal lung development.," *Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists*, vol. 225, pp. 14–21, Sept. 2002.
- [21] BURDEN, R. E., GORMLEY, J. A., JAQUIN, T. J., SMALL, D. M., QUINN, D. J., HEGARTY, S. M., WARD, C., WALKER, B., JOHNSTON, J. A., OL-WILL, S. A., and SCOTT, C. J., "Antibody-mediated inhibition of cathepsin S blocks colorectal tumor invasion and angiogenesis.," *Clinical cancer research* : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research, vol. 15, pp. 6042–6051, Oct. 2009.
- [22] CAMPBELL, M. J., TONLAAR, N. Y., GARWOOD, E. R., HUO, D., MOORE, D. H., KHRAMTSOV, A. I., AU, A., BAEHNER, F., CHEN, Y., MALAKA, D. O., LIN, A., ADEYANJU, O. O., LI, S., GONG, C., MCGRATH, M.,

OLOPADE, O. I., and ESSERMAN, L. J., "Proliferating macrophages associated with high grade, hormone receptor negative breast cancer and poor clinical outcome.," *Breast cancer research and treatment*, vol. 128, pp. 703–711, Aug. 2011.

- [23] CHAPMAN, H. A., RIESE, R. J., and SHI, G. P., "Emerging roles for cysteine proteases in human biology.," *Annual review of physiology*, vol. 59, pp. 63–88, 1997.
- [24] CHENG, X. W., SHI, G.-P., KUZUYA, M., SASAKI, T., OKUMURA, K., and MUROHARA, T., "Role for cysteine protease cathepsins in heart disease: focus on biology and mechanisms with clinical implication.," *Circulation*, vol. 125, pp. 1551–1562, Mar. 2012.
- [25] CHUNG, L. W. K., "Prostate carcinoma bone-stroma interaction and its biologic and therapeutic implications.," *Cancer*, vol. 97, pp. 772–778, Feb. 2003.
- [26] CHWIERALSKI, C. E., WELTE, T., and BÜHLING, F., "Cathepsin-regulated apoptosis Springer," *Apoptosis*, 2006.
- [27] CONNOLLY, J. L., BOYAGES, J., NIXON, A. J., PEIRÓ, G., GAGE, I., SIL-VER, B., RECHT, A., HARRIS, J. R., and SCHNITT, S. J., "Predictors of breast recurrence after conservative surgery and radiation therapy for invasive breast cancer.," *Modern pathology : an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc*, vol. 11, pp. 134–139, Feb. 1998.
- [28] COUSSENS, L. M. and WERB, Z., "Inflammation and cancer.," Nature, vol. 420, pp. 860–867, Dec. 2002.
- [29] CRICK, F., "Central dogma of molecular biology.," Nature, vol. 227, pp. 561– 563, Aug. 1970.
- [30] CRISTOFANILLI, M., BUDD, G. T., ELLIS, M. J., STOPECK, A., MATERA, J., MILLER, M. C., REUBEN, J. M., DOYLE, G. V., ALLARD, W. J., TER-STAPPEN, L. W. M. M., and HAYES, D. F., "Circulating tumor cells, disease progression, and survival in metastatic breast cancer.," *New England Journal* of Medicine, vol. 351, pp. 781–791, Aug. 2004.
- [31] DE NOOIJER, R., BOT, I., VON DER THÜSEN, J. H., LEEUWENBURGH, M. A., OVERKLEEFT, H. S., KRAAIJEVELD, A. O., DORLAND, R., VAN SANTBRINK, P. J., VAN HEININGEN, S. H., WESTRA, M. M., KOVANEN, P. T., JUKEMA, J. W., VAN DER WALL, E. E., VAN BERKEL, T. J. C., SHI, G. P., and BIESSEN, E. A. L., "Leukocyte cathepsin S is a potent regulator of both cell and matrix turnover in advanced atherosclerosis.," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 29, pp. 188–194, Feb. 2009.
- [32] DE PALMA, M. and LEWIS, C. E., "Macrophage regulation of tumor responses to anticancer therapies.," *Cancer Cell*, vol. 23, pp. 277–286, Mar. 2013.

- [33] DE TOMMASI, E., REA, I., and RENDINA, I., "Unlicensed electronic item," SPIE ..., 2011.
- [34] DENARDO, D. G., BRENNAN, D. J., REXHEPAJ, E., RUFFELL, B., SHIAO, S. L., MADDEN, S. F., GALLAGHER, W. M., WADHWANI, N., KEIL, S. D., JUNAID, S. A., RUGO, H. S., HWANG, E. S., JIRSTRÖM, K., WEST, B. L., and COUSSENS, L. M., "Leukocyte complexity predicts breast cancer survival and functionally regulates response to chemotherapy.," *Cancer discovery*, vol. 1, pp. 54–67, June 2011.
- [35] DENISOV, E. V., LITVIAKOV, N. V., ZAVYALOVA, M. V., PERELMUTER, V. M., VTORUSHIN, S. V., TSYGANOV, M. M., GERASHCHENKO, T. S., GARBUKOV, E. Y., SLONIMSKAYA, E. M., and CHERDYNTSEVA, N. V., "Intratumoral morphological heterogeneity of breast cancer: neoadjuvant chemotherapy efficiency and multidrug resistance gene expression.," *Scientific reports*, vol. 4, p. 4709, 2014.
- [36] DESMARAIS, S., MASSÉ, F., and PERCIVAL, M. D., "Pharmacological inhibitors to identify roles of cathepsin K in cell-based studies: a comparison of available tools.," *Biological chemistry*, vol. 390, pp. 941–948, Sept. 2009.
- [37] DIRKX, A. E. M., OUDE EGBRINK, M. G. A., WAGSTAFF, J., and GRIF-FIOEN, A. W., "Monocyte/macrophage infiltration in tumors: modulators of angiogenesis.," *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, vol. 80, pp. 1183–1196, Dec. 2006.
- [38] DUNCAN, E. M., MURATORE-SCHROEDER, T. L., COOK, R. G., GARCIA, B. A., SHABANOWITZ, J., HUNT, D. F., and ALLIS, C. D., "Cathepsin L proteolytically processes histone H3 during mouse embryonic stem cell differentiation.," *Cell*, vol. 135, pp. 284–294, Oct. 2008.
- [39] ELIE, B. T., GOCHEVA, V., SHREE, T., DALRYMPLE, S. A., HOLSINGER, L. J., and JOYCE, J. A., "Identification and pre-clinical testing of a reversible cathepsin protease inhibitor reveals anti-tumor efficacy in a pancreatic cancer model.," *Biochimie*, vol. 92, pp. 1618–1624, Nov. 2010.
- [40] ERNSTER, V. L., BARCLAY, J., KERLIKOWSKE, K., GRADY, D., and HEN-DERSON, C., "Incidence of and treatment for ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast.," *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 275, pp. 913–918, Mar. 1996.
- [41] EVANS, W. E. and RELLING, M. V., "Moving towards individualized medicine with pharmacogenomics.," *Nature*, vol. 429, pp. 464–468, May 2004.
- [42] FELBOR, U., DREIER, L., BRYANT, R. A., PLOEGH, H. L., OLSEN, B. R., and MOTHES, W., "Secreted cathepsin L generates endostatin from collagen XVIII.," *The EMBO journal*, vol. 19, pp. 1187–1194, Mar. 2000.

- [43] FIDLER, I. J., The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the 'seed and soil' hypothesis revisited., vol. 3. June 2003.
- [44] FILGUEIRA, L., "Fluorescence-based Staining for Tartrate-resistant Acidic Phosphatase (TRAP) in Osteoclasts Combined with Other Fluorescent Dyes and Protocols," *Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry*, vol. 52, pp. 411– 414, Mar. 2004.
- [45] FONOVIC, M. and TURK, B., "Cysteine cathepsins and extracellular matrix degradation.," *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, Mar. 2014.
- [46] FONOVIC, M. and TURK, B., "Cysteine cathepsins and their potential in clinical therapy and biomarker discovery.," *Proteomics. Clinical applications*, vol. 8, pp. 416–426, June 2014.
- [47] FRANK, S. A. and ROSNER, M. R., "Nonheritable cellular variability accelerates the evolutionary processes of cancer.," *PLoS biology*, vol. 10, no. 4, p. e1001296, 2012.
- [48] FRIEDL, P. and ALEXANDER, S., "Cancer Invasion and the Microenvironment: Plasticity and Reciprocity," *Cell*, 2011.
- [49] FRIEDL, P. and ALEXANDER, S., "Cancer invasion and the microenvironment: plasticity and reciprocity.," *Cell*, vol. 147, pp. 992–1009, Nov. 2011.
- [50] FRIEDRICHS, B., TEPEL, C., REINHECKEL, T., DEUSSING, J., VON FIGURA, K., HERZOG, V., PETERS, C., SAFTIG, P., and BRIX, K., "Thyroid functions of mouse cathepsins B, K, and L.," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 111, pp. 1733–1745, June 2003.
- [51] GARNERO, P., BOREL, O., BYRJALSEN, I., FERRERAS, M., DRAKE, F. H., MCQUENEY, M. S., FOGED, N. T., DELMAS, P. D., and DELAISSÉ, J. M., "The collagenolytic activity of cathepsin K is unique among mammalian proteinases.," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 273, pp. 32347–32352, Nov. 1998.
- [52] GELADI, P. and KOWALSKI, B. R., "Partial least-squares regression: a tutorial," *Analytica chimica acta*, 1986.
- [53] GERLINGER, M., HORSWELL, S., LARKIN, J., ROWAN, A. J., SALM, M. P., VARELA, I., FISHER, R., MCGRANAHAN, N., MATTHEWS, N., SANTOS, C. R., MARTINEZ, P., PHILLIMORE, B., BEGUM, S., RABINOWITZ, A., SPENCER-DENE, B., GULATI, S., BATES, P. A., STAMP, G., PICKERING, L., GORE, M., NICOL, D. L., HAZELL, S., FUTREAL, P. A., STEWART, A., and SWANTON, C., "Genomic architecture and evolution of clear cell renal cell carcinomas defined by multiregion sequencing.," *Nature genetics*, vol. 46, pp. 225–233, Mar. 2014.

- [54] GINSBURG, G. S. and WILLARD, H. F., "Genomic and personalized medicine: foundations and applications.," *Translational research : the journal of laboratory and clinical medicine*, vol. 154, pp. 277–287, Dec. 2009.
- [55] GOCHEVA, V. and JOYCE, J. A., "Cysteine cathepsins and the cutting edge of cancer invasion.," *Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex.)*, vol. 6, pp. 60–64, Jan. 2007.
- [56] GOCHEVA, V., WANG, H.-W., GADEA, B. B., SHREE, T., HUNTER, K. E., GARFALL, A. L., BERMAN, T., and JOYCE, J. A., "IL-4 induces cathepsin protease activity in tumor-associated macrophages to promote cancer growth and invasion.," *Genes & development*, vol. 24, pp. 241–255, Feb. 2010.
- [57] GOCHEVA, V., ZENG, W., KE, D., KLIMSTRA, D., REINHECKEL, T., PE-TERS, C., HANAHAN, D., and JOYCE, J. A., "Distinct roles for cysteine cathepsin genes in multistage tumorigenesis.," *Genes & development*, vol. 20, pp. 543–556, Mar. 2006.
- [58] GOSWAMI, S., SAHAI, E., WYCKOFF, J. B., CAMMER, M., COX, D., PIXLEY, F. J., STANLEY, E. R., SEGALL, J. E., and CONDEELIS, J. S., "Macrophages promote the invasion of breast carcinoma cells via a colonystimulating factor-1/epidermal growth factor paracrine loop.," *Cancer research*, vol. 65, pp. 5278–5283, June 2005.
- [59] GOSWAMI, S., SAHAI, E., WYCKOFF, J. B., CAMMER, M., COX, D., PIXLEY, F. J., STANLEY, E. R., SEGALL, J. E., and CONDEELIS, J. S., "Macrophages Promote the Invasion of Breast Carcinoma Cells via a Colony-Stimulating Factor-1/Epidermal Growth Factor Paracrine Loop," *Cancer research*, 2005.
- [60] GOULET, B., SANSREGRET, L., LEDUY, L., BOGYO, M., WEBER, E., CHAUHAN, S. S., and NEPVEU, A., "Increased expression and activity of nuclear cathepsin L in cancer cells suggests a novel mechanism of cell transformation.," *Molecular cancer research : MCR*, vol. 5, pp. 899–907, Sept. 2007.
- [61] GREAVES, M. and MALEY, C. C., "Clonal evolution in cancer.," Nature, vol. 481, pp. 306–313, Jan. 2012.
- [62] GROTSKY, D. A., GONZALEZ-SUAREZ, I., NOVELL, A., NEUMANN, M. A., YADDANAPUDI, S. C., CROKE, M., MARTINEZ-ALONSO, M., REDWOOD, A. B., ORTEGA-MARTINEZ, S., FENG, Z., LERMA, E., RAMON Y CAJAL, T., ZHANG, J., MATIAS-GUIU, X., DUSSO, A., and GONZALO, S., "BRCA1 loss activates cathepsin L-mediated degradation of 53BP1 in breast cancer cells.," *The Journal of cell biology*, vol. 200, pp. 187–202, Jan. 2013.
- [63] GUYATT, G., SACKETT, D., TAYLOR, D. W., CHONG, J., ROBERTS, R., and PUGSLEY, S., "Determining optimal therapy-randomized trials in individual patients.," *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 314, pp. 889–892, Apr. 1986.

- [64] GUYATT, G. H., KELLER, J. L., JAESCHKE, R., ROSENBLOOM, D., ADACHI, J. D., and NEWHOUSE, M. T., "The n-of-1 randomized controlled trial: clinical usefulness. Our three-year experience.," *Annals of internal medicine*, vol. 112, pp. 293–299, Feb. 1990.
- [65] HALL, J. P. and DAVIS, R. J., "Inhibition of the p38 pathway upregulates macrophage JNK and ERK activities, and the ERK, JNK, and p38 MAP kinase pathways are reprogrammed during differentiation of the murine myeloid M1 cell line.," *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, vol. 86, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2002.
- [66] HANAHAN, D., "Rethinking the war on cancer.," Lancet, vol. 383, pp. 558–563, Feb. 2014.
- [67] HANSSON, G. K. and LIBBY, P., "The immune response in atherosclerosis: a double-edged sword.," *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 6, pp. 508–519, July 2006.
- [68] HIMES, S. R., SESTER, D. P., RAVASI, T., CRONAU, S. L., SASMONO, T., and HUME, D. A., "The JNK are important for development and survival of macrophages.," *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*, vol. 176, pp. 2219–2228, Feb. 2006.
- [69] HOU, W. S., LI, Z., GORDON, R. E., CHAN, K., KLEIN, M. J., LEVY, R., KEYSSER, M., KEYSZER, G., and BRÖMME, D., "Cathepsin k is a critical protease in synovial fibroblast-mediated collagen degradation.," *The American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 159, pp. 2167–2177, Dec. 2001.
- [70] INADA, M., TSUKAMOTO, K., HIRATA, M., TAKITA, M., NAGASAWA, K., and MIYAURA, C., "Novel vitamin D3 analogs, 1alpha, 25(OH)2D(3)-26, 23lactam (DLAMs), antagonize bone resorption via suppressing RANKL expression in osteoblasts.," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 372, pp. 434–439, Aug. 2008.
- [71] INTERNATIONAL CANCER GENOME CONSORTIUM, HUDSON, T. J., ANDERSON, W., ARTEZ, A., BARKER, A. D., BELL, C., BERNABÉ, R. R., BHAN, M. K., CALVO, F., EEROLA, I., GERHARD, D. S., GUTTMACHER, A., GUYER, M., HEMSLEY, F. M., JENNINGS, J. L., KERR, D., KLATT, P., KOLAR, P., KUSADA, J., LANE, D. P., LAPLACE, F., YOUYONG, L., NETTEKOVEN, G., OZENBERGER, B., PETERSON, J., RAO, T. S., REMACLE, J., SCHAFER, A. J., SHIBATA, T., STRATTON, M. R., VOCKLEY, J. G., WATANABE, K., YANG, H., YUEN, M. M. F., KNOPPERS, B. M., BOBROW, M., CAMBON-THOMSEN, A., DRESSLER, L. G., DYKE, S. O. M., JOLY, Y., KATO, K., KENNEDY, K. L., NICOLÁS, P., PARKER, M. J., RIAL-SEBBAG, E., ROMEO-CASABONA, C. M., SHAW, K. M., WALLACE, S., WIESNER, G. L., ZEPS, N., LICHTER, P., BIANKIN, A. V., CHABANNON, C., CHIN, L., CLÉMENT, B., DE ALAVA, E., DEGOS, F., FERGUSON, M. L., GEARY,

P., HAYES, D. N., HUDSON, T. J., JOHNS, A. L., KASPRZYK, A., NAK-AGAWA, H., PENNY, R., PIRIS, M. A., SARIN, R., SCARPA, A., SHIBATA, T., VAN DE VIJVER, M., FUTREAL, P. A., ABURATANI, H., BAYÉS, M., BOTWELL, D. D. L., CAMPBELL, P. J., ESTIVILL, X., GERHARD, D. S., GRIMMOND, S. M., GUT, I., HIRST, M., LÓPEZ-OTÍN, C., MAJUMDER, P., MARRA, M., MCPHERSON, J. D., NAKAGAWA, H., NING, Z., PUENTE, X. S., RUAN, Y., SHIBATA, T., STRATTON, M. R., STUNNENBERG, H. G., SWERDLOW, H., VELCULESCU, V. E., WILSON, R. K., XUE, H. H., YANG, L., Spellman, P. T., Bader, G. D., Boutros, P. C., Campbell, P. J., FLICEK, P., GETZ, G., GUIGÓ, R., GUO, G., HAUSSLER, D., HEATH, S., HUBBARD, T. J., JIANG, T., JONES, S. M., LI, Q., LÓPEZ-BIGAS, N., LUO, R., MUTHUSWAMY, L., OUELLETTE, B. F. F., PEARSON, J. V., PUENTE, X. S., Quesada, V., Raphael, B. J., Sander, C., Shibata, T., Speed, T. P., STEIN, L. D., STUART, J. M., TEAGUE, J. W., TOTOKI, Y., TSUN-ODA, T., VALENCIA, A., WHEELER, D. A., WU, H., ZHAO, S., ZHOU, G., STEIN, L. D., GUIGÓ, R., HUBBARD, T. J., JOLY, Y., JONES, S. M., KASPRZYK, A., LATHROP, M., LÓPEZ-BIGAS, N., OUELLETTE, B. F. F., SPELLMAN, P. T., TEAGUE, J. W., THOMAS, G., VALENCIA, A., YOSHIDA, T., KENNEDY, K. L., AXTON, M., DYKE, S. O. M., FUTREAL, P. A., GERHARD, D. S., GUNTER, C., GUYER, M., HUDSON, T. J., MCPHER-SON, J. D., MILLER, L. J., OZENBERGER, B., SHAW, K. M., KASPRZYK, A., STEIN, L. D., ZHANG, J., HAIDER, S. A., WANG, J., YUNG, C. K., CROS, A., CROSS, A., LIANG, Y., GNANESHAN, S., GUBERMAN, J., HSU, J., BOBROW, M., CHALMERS, D. R. C., HASEL, K. W., JOLY, Y., KAAN, T. S. H., KENNEDY, K. L., KNOPPERS, B. M., LOWRANCE, W. W., MA-SUI, T., NICOLÁS, P., RIAL-SEBBAG, E., RODRIGUEZ, L. L., VERGELY, C., YOSHIDA, T., GRIMMOND, S. M., BIANKIN, A. V., BOWTELL, D. D. L., CLOONAN, N., DEFAZIO, A., ESHLEMAN, J. R., ETEMADMOGHADAM, D., GARDINER, B. B., GARDINER, B. A., KENCH, J. G., SCARPA, A., SUTHER-LAND, R. L., TEMPERO, M. A., WADDELL, N. J., WILSON, P. J., MCPHER-SON, J. D., GALLINGER, S., TSAO, M.-S., SHAW, P. A., PETERSEN, G. M., MUKHOPADHYAY, D., CHIN, L., DEPINHO, R. A., THAYER, S., MUTHUSWAMY, L., SHAZAND, K., BECK, T., SAM, M., TIMMS, L., BALLIN, V., LU, Y., JI, J., ZHANG, X., CHEN, F., HU, X., ZHOU, G., YANG, Q., TIAN, G., ZHANG, L., XING, X., LI, X., ZHU, Z., YU, Y., YU, J., YANG, H., LATHROP, M., TOST, J., BRENNAN, P., HOLCATOVA, I., ZARIDZE, D., and BRAZMA, A., "International network of cancer genome projects.," Nature, vol. 464, pp. 993–998, Apr. 2010.

[72] ISHIDOH, K. and KOMINAMI, E., "Procathepsin L degrades extracellular matrix proteins in the presence of glycosaminoglycans in vitro.," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 217, pp. 624–631, Dec. 1995.

- [73] JAGUIN, M., HOULBERT, N., FARDEL, O., and LECUREUR, V., "Polarization profiles of human M-CSF-generated macrophages and comparison of M1markers in classically activated macrophages from GM-CSF and M-CSF origin.," *Cellular immunology*, vol. 281, pp. 51–61, Jan. 2013.
- [74] JANES, K. A., ALBECK, J. G., GAUDET, S., SORGER, P. K., LAUFFEN-BURGER, D. A., and YAFFE, M. B., "A systems model of signaling identifies a molecular basis set for cytokine-induced apoptosis.," *Science*, vol. 310, pp. 1646–1653, Dec. 2005.
- [75] JANES, K. A., KELLY, J. R., GAUDET, S., ALBECK, J. G., SORGER, P. K., and LAUFFENBURGER, D. A., "Cue-signal-response analysis of TNF-induced apoptosis by partial least squares regression of dynamic multivariate data.," *Journal of computational biology : a journal of computational molecular cell biology*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 544–561, 2004.
- [76] JANES, K. A. and YAFFE, M. B., "Data-driven modelling of signaltransduction networks.," *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, vol. 7, pp. 820–828, Nov. 2006.
- [77] JORDAN, J. D., LANDAU, E. M., and IYENGAR, R., "Signaling networks: the origins of cellular multitasking.," *Cell*, vol. 103, pp. 193–200, Oct. 2000.
- [78] JORMSJÖ, S., WUTTGE, D. M., SIRSJÖ, A., WHATLING, C., HAMSTEN, A., STEMME, S., and ERIKSSON, P., "Differential expression of cysteine and aspartic proteases during progression of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein Edeficient mice.," *The American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 161, pp. 939–945, Sept. 2002.
- [79] JOY, T. R., MONJED, A., ZOU, G. Y., HEGELE, R. A., MCDONALD, C. G., and MAHON, J. L., "N-of-1 (single-patient) trials for statin-related myalgia.," *Annals of internal medicine*, vol. 160, pp. 301–310, Mar. 2014.
- [80] JOYCE, J. A., BARUCH, A., CHEHADE, K., MEYER-MORSE, N., GI-RAUDO, E., TSAI, F.-Y., GREENBAUM, D. C., HAGER, J. H., BOGYO, M., and HANAHAN, D., "Cathepsin cysteine proteases are effectors of invasive growth and angiogenesis during multistage tumorigenesis.," *Cancer Cell*, vol. 5, pp. 443–453, May 2004.
- [81] JOYCE, J. A. and HANAHAN, D., "Multiple roles for cysteine cathepsins in cancer.," *Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex.)*, vol. 3, pp. 1516–1619, Dec. 2004.
- [82] KEEGAN, P. M., SURAPANENI, S., and PLATT, M. O., "Sickle cell disease activates peripheral blood mononuclear cells to induce cathepsins k and v activity in endothelial cells.," *Anemia*, vol. 2012, p. 201781, 2012.

- [83] KEEGAN, P. M., WILDER, C. L., and PLATT, M. O., "Tumor necrosis factor alpha stimulates cathepsin K and V activity via juxtacrine monocyteendothelial cell signaling and JNK activation.," *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, vol. 367, pp. 65–72, Aug. 2012.
- [84] KERSCHAN-SCHINDL, K., HAWA, G., KUDLACEK, S., WOLOSZCZUK, W., and PIETSCHMANN, P., "Serum levels of cathepsin K decrease with age in both women and men.," *Experimental gerontology*, vol. 40, pp. 532–535, June 2005.
- [85] KHALLOU-LASCHET, J., VARTHAMAN, A., FORNASA, G., COMPAIN, C., GASTON, A.-T., CLEMENT, M., DUSSIOT, M., LEVILLAIN, O., GRAFF-DUBOIS, S., NICOLETTI, A., and CALIGIURI, G., "Macrophage plasticity in experimental atherosclerosis.," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. e8852, 2010.
- [86] KIM, D., KIM, S., KOH, H., YOON, S. O., CHUNG, A. S., CHO, K. S., and CHUNG, J., "Akt/PKB promotes cancer cell invasion via increased motility and metalloproteinase production.," *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, vol. 15, pp. 1953– 1962, Sept. 2001.
- [87] KINGSLEY, L. A., FOURNIER, P. G. J., CHIRGWIN, J. M., and GUISE, T. A., "Molecular biology of bone metastasis.," *Molecular cancer therapeutics*, vol. 6, pp. 2609–2617, Oct. 2007.
- [88] KITAMOTO, S., SUKHOVA, G. K., SUN, J., YANG, M., LIBBY, P., LOVE, V., DURAMAD, P., SUN, C., ZHANG, Y., YANG, X., PETERS, C., and SHI, G.-P., "Cathepsin L deficiency reduces diet-induced atherosclerosis in low-density lipoprotein receptor-knockout mice.," *Circulation*, vol. 115, pp. 2065–2075, Apr. 2007.
- [89] KITAZAWA, R., "ScienceDirect.com Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications - Vitamin D3 Augments Osteoclastogenesis via Vitamin D-Responsive Element of Mouse RANKL Gene Promoter," *Biochemical and biophysical research* ..., 2002.
- [90] KLEER, C. G., BLOUSHTAIN-QIMRON, N., CHEN, Y.-H., CARRASCO, D., HU, M., YAO, J., KRAEFT, S.-K., COLLINS, L. C., SABEL, M. S., ARGANI, P., GELMAN, R., SCHNITT, S. J., KROP, I. E., and POLYAK, K., "Epithelial and stromal cathepsin K and CXCL14 expression in breast tumor progression.," *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, vol. 14, pp. 5357–5367, Sept. 2008.
- [91] KODELJA, V., MÜLLER, C., POLITZ, O., HAKIJ, N., ORFANOS, C. E., and GOERDT, S., "Alternative macrophage activation-associated CC-chemokine-1, a novel structural homologue of macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha with a Th2-associated expression pattern.," *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.* : 1950), vol. 160, pp. 1411–1418, Feb. 1998.

- [92] KRUEGER, S., HAECKEL, C., BUEHLING, F., and ROESSNER, A., "Inhibitory effects of antisense cathepsin B cDNA transfection on invasion and motility in a human osteosarcoma cell line.," *Cancer research*, vol. 59, pp. 6010–6014, Dec. 1999.
- [93] KRUEGER, S., KALINSKI, T., HUNDERTMARK, T., WEX, T., KÜSTER, D., PEITZ, U., EBERT, M., NÄGLER, D. K., KELLNER, U., MALFERTHEINER, P., NAUMANN, M., RÖCKEN, C., and ROESSNER, A., "Up-regulation of cathepsin X in Helicobacter pylori gastritis and gastric cancer.," *The Journal* of Pathology, vol. 207, pp. 32–42, Sept. 2005.
- [94] KUNDU, A. K. and PUTNAM, A. J., "Vitronectin and collagen I differentially regulate osteogenesis in mesenchymal stem cells.," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 347, pp. 347–357, Aug. 2006.
- [95] KURAHARA, H., SHINCHI, H., MATAKI, Y., MAEMURA, K., NOMA, H., KUBO, F., SAKODA, M., UENO, S., NATSUGOE, S., and TAKAO, S., "Significance of M2-polarized tumor-associated macrophage in pancreatic cancer.," *The Journal of surgical research*, vol. 167, pp. e211–9, May 2011.
- [96] LANCET, T., "Cardiovascular health crisis.," Lancet, vol. 376, p. 1874, Dec. 2010.
- [97] LAOUI, D., MOVAHEDI, K., VAN OVERMEIRE, E., VAN DEN BOSSCHE, J., SCHOUPPE, E., MOMMER, C., NIKOLAOU, A., MORIAS, Y., DE BAETSE-LIER, P., and VAN GINDERACHTER, J. A., "Tumor-associated macrophages in breast cancer: distinct subsets, distinct functions.," *The International journal of developmental biology*, vol. 55, no. 7-9, pp. 861–867, 2011.
- [98] LARSON, E. B., ELLSWORTH, A. J., and OAS, J., "Randomized clinical trials in single patients during a 2-year period.," *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 270, pp. 2708–2712, Dec. 1993.
- [99] LE GALL, C., BONNELYE, E., and CLÉZARDIN, P., "Cathepsin K inhibitors as treatment of bone metastasis.," *Current opinion in supportive and palliative care*, vol. 2, pp. 218–222, Sept. 2008.
- [100] LEE, A. H., HAPPERFIELD, L. C., BOBROW, L. G., and MILLIS, R. R., "Angiogenesis and inflammation in invasive carcinoma of the breast.," *Journal of clinical pathology*, vol. 50, pp. 669–673, Aug. 1997.
- [101] LEE, F. S., HAGLER, J., CHEN, Z. J., and MANIATIS, T., "Activation of the IkappaB alpha kinase complex by MEKK1, a kinase of the JNK pathway.," *Cell*, vol. 88, pp. 213–222, Jan. 1997.
- [102] LEEK, R. D., LEWIS, C. E., WHITEHOUSE, R., GREENALL, M., CLARKE, J., and HARRIS, A. L., "Association of macrophage infiltration with angiogenesis and prognosis in invasive breast carcinoma.," *Cancer research*, vol. 56, pp. 4625– 4629, Oct. 1996.

- [103] LEWIS, C. E., "Distinct Role of Macrophages in Different Tumor Microenvironments," *Cancer research*, vol. 66, pp. 605–612, Jan. 2006.
- [104] LEWIS, J. S., LANDERS, R. J., UNDERWOOD, J. C., HARRIS, A. L., and LEWIS, C. E., "Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor by macrophages is up-regulated in poorly vascularized areas of breast carcinomas.," *The Journal of Pathology*, vol. 192, pp. 150–158, Oct. 2000.
- [105] LI, W. A., BARRY, Z. T., COHEN, J. D., WILDER, C. L., DEEDS, R. J., KEEGAN, P. M., and PLATT, M. O., "Detection of femtomole quantities of mature cathepsin K with zymography," *Analytical Biochemistry*, vol. 401, pp. 91–98, June 2010.
- [106] LI, Z., HOU, W.-S., ESCALANTE-TORRES, C. R., GELB, B. D., and BRÖMME, D., "Collagenase activity of cathepsin K depends on complex formation with chondroitin sulfate.," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 277, pp. 28669–28676, Aug. 2002.
- [107] LI, Z., KIENETZ, M., CHERNEY, M. M., JAMES, M. N. G., and BRÖMME, D., "The crystal and molecular structures of a cathepsin K:chondroitin sulfate complex.," *Journal of Molecular Biology*, vol. 383, pp. 78–91, Oct. 2008.
- [108] LI, Z., YASUDA, Y., LI, W., BOGYO, M., KATZ, N., GORDON, R. E., FIELDS, G. B., and BRÖMME, D., "Regulation of collagenase activities of human cathepsins by glycosaminoglycans.," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 279, pp. 5470–5479, Feb. 2004.
- [109] LIN, E. Y., NGUYEN, A. V., RUSSELL, R. G., and POLLARD, J. W., "Colony-stimulating factor 1 promotes progression of mammary tumors to malignancy.," *The Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 193, pp. 727–740, Mar. 2001.
- [110] LINDAHL, C., SIMONSSON, M., BERGH, A., THYSELL, E., ANTTI, H., SUND, M., and WIKSTRÖM, P., "Increased levels of macrophage-secreted cathepsin S during prostate cancer progression in TRAMP mice and patients.," *Cancer* genomics & proteomics, vol. 6, pp. 149–159, May 2009.
- [111] LIOTTA, L. A., KOHN, E. C., and PETRICOIN, E. F., "Clinical proteomics: personalized molecular medicine.," JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, vol. 286, pp. 2211–2214, Nov. 2001.
- [112] LITTLEWOOD-EVANS, A. J., BILBE, G., BOWLER, W. B., FARLEY, D., WLODARSKI, B., KOKUBO, T., INAOKA, T., SLOANE, J., EVANS, D. B., and GALLAGHER, J. A., "The osteoclast-associated protease cathepsin K is expressed in human breast carcinoma.," *Cancer research*, vol. 57, pp. 5386– 5390, Dec. 1997.

- [113] LIU, J., MA, L., YANG, J., REN, A., SUN, Z., YAN, G., SUN, J., FU, H., XU, W., HU, C., and SHI, G.-P., "Increased serum cathepsin S in patients with atherosclerosis and diabetes.," *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 186, pp. 411–419, June 2006.
- [114] LIU, J., SUKHOVA, G. K., SUN, J.-S., XU, W.-H., LIBBY, P., and SHI, G.-P., "Lysosomal cysteine proteases in atherosclerosis.," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 24, pp. 1359–1366, Aug. 2004.
- [115] LIU, J., SUKHOVA, G. K., YANG, J.-T., SUN, J., MA, L., REN, A., XU, W.-H., FU, H., DOLGANOV, G. M., HU, C., LIBBY, P., and SHI, G.-P., "Cathepsin L expression and regulation in human abdominal aortic aneurysm, atherosclerosis, and vascular cells.," *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 184, pp. 302–311, Feb. 2006.
- [116] LUTGENS, E., LUTGENS, S. P. M., FABER, B. C. G., HEENEMAN, S., GIJ-BELS, M. M. J., DE WINTHER, M. P. J., FREDERIK, P., VAN DER MADE, I., DAUGHERTY, A., SIJBERS, A. M., FISHER, A., LONG, C. J., SAFTIG, P., BLACK, D., DAEMEN, M. J. A. P., and CLEUTJENS, K. B. J. M., "Disruption of the cathepsin K gene reduces atherosclerosis progression and induces plaque fibrosis but accelerates macrophage foam cell formation.," *Circulation*, vol. 113, pp. 98–107, Jan. 2006.
- [117] LUTGENS, S. P. M., CLEUTJENS, K. B. J. M., DAEMEN, M. J. A. P., and HEENEMAN, S., "Cathepsin cysteine proteases in cardiovascular disease.," *The FASEB Journal*, vol. 21, pp. 3029–3041, Oct. 2007.
- [118] MACIEWICZ, R. A. and ETHERINGTON, D. J., "A comparison of four cathepsins (B, L, N and S) with collagenolytic activity from rabbit spleen.," *The Biochemical journal*, vol. 256, pp. 433–440, Dec. 1988.
- [119] MAI, J., SAMENI, M., MIKKELSEN, T., and SLOANE, B. F., "Degradation of extracellular matrix protein tenascin-C by cathepsin B: an interaction involved in the progression of gliomas.," *Biological chemistry*, vol. 383, pp. 1407–1413, Sept. 2002.
- [120] MANTOVANI, A., "B cells and macrophages in cancer: yin and yang," Nature Publishing Group, vol. 17, pp. 285–286, Mar. 2011.
- [121] MANTOVANI, A., ALLAVENA, P., SICA, A., and BALKWILL, F., "Cancerrelated inflammation.," *Nature*, vol. 454, pp. 436–444, July 2008.
- [122] MANTOVANI, A., BISWAS, S. K., GALDIERO, M. R., SICA, A., and LOCATI, M., "Macrophage plasticity and polarization in tissue repair and remodelling.," *The Journal of Pathology*, Oct. 2012.
- [123] MANTOVANI, A., GARLANDA, C., and LOCATI, M., "Macrophage diversity and polarization in atherosclerosis: a question of balance.," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 29, pp. 1419–1423, Oct. 2009.
- [124] MANTOVANI, A., SICA, A., SOZZANI, S., ALLAVENA, P., VECCHI, A., and LOCATI, M., "The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization.," *Trends in immunology*, vol. 25, pp. 677–686, Dec. 2004.
- [125] MANTOVANI, A., SOZZANI, S., LOCATI, M., ALLAVENA, P., and SICA, A., "Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes.," *Trends in immunology*, vol. 23, pp. 549–555, Nov. 2002.
- [126] MARTÍN-FUENTES, P., CIVEIRA, F., RECALDE, D., GARCÍA-OTÍN, A. L., JARAUTA, E., MARZO, I., and CENARRO, A., "Individual variation of scavenger receptor expression in human macrophages with oxidized low-density lipoprotein is associated with a differential inflammatory response.," *Journal* of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), vol. 179, pp. 3242–3248, Sept. 2007.
- [127] MARTINEZ, F. O., GORDON, S., LOCATI, M., and MANTOVANI, A., "Transcriptional profiling of the human monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and polarization: new molecules and patterns of gene expression.," *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*, vol. 177, pp. 7303–7311, Nov. 2006.
- [128] MCGRATH, M. E., "The lysosomal cysteine proteases.," Annual review of biophysics and biomolecular structure, vol. 28, pp. 181–204, 1999.
- [129] MCQUENEY, M. S., AMEGADZIE, B. Y., D'ALESSIO, K., HANNING, C. R., MCLAUGHLIN, M. M., MCNULTY, D., CARR, S. A., IJAMES, C., KURDYLA, J., and JONES, C. S., "Autocatalytic activation of human cathepsin K.," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 272, pp. 13955–13960, May 1997.
- [130] MEDREK, C., PONTEN, F., JIRSTRÖM, K., and LEANDERSSON, K., "The presence of tumor associated macrophages in tumor stroma as a prognostic marker for breast cancer patients.," *BMC cancer*, vol. 12, p. 306, 2012.
- [131] MELANI, C., SANGALETTI, S., BARAZZETTA, F. M., WERB, Z., and COLOMBO, M. P., "Amino-Biphosphonate-Mediated MMP-9 Inhibition Breaks the Tumor-Bone Marrow Axis Responsible for Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Expansion and Macrophage Infiltration in Tumor Stroma," *Cancer research*, 2007.
- [132] MÉNARD, R., CARMONA, E., TAKEBE, S., DUFOUR, E., PLOUFFE, C., MA-SON, P., and MORT, J. S., "Autocatalytic processing of recombinant human procathepsin L. Contribution of both intermolecular and unimolecular events in the processing of procathepsin L in vitro.," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 273, pp. 4478–4484, Feb. 1998.
- [133] MICHELETTI, R. G., FISHBEIN, G. A., CURRIER, J. S., SINGER, E. J., and FISHBEIN, M. C., "Calcification of the internal elastic lamina of coronary arteries.," *Modern Pathology*, vol. 21, pp. 1019–1028, Aug. 2008.

- [134] MILLER-JENSEN, K., JANES, K. A., BRUGGE, J. S., and LAUFFENBURGER, D. A., "Common effector processing mediates cell-specific responses to stimuli.," *Nature*, vol. 448, pp. 604–608, Aug. 2007.
- [135] MILLER-JENSEN, K., JANES, K. A., WONG, Y.-L., GRIFFITH, L. G., and LAUFFENBURGER, D. A., "Adenoviral vector saturates Akt pro-survival signaling and blocks insulin-mediated rescue of tumor necrosis-factor-induced apoptosis.," *Journal of cell science*, vol. 119, pp. 3788–3798, Sept. 2006.
- [136] MILNE, R. L. and ANTONIOU, A. C., "Genetic modifiers of cancer risk for BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers.," Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO, vol. 22 Suppl 1, pp. i11–7, Jan. 2011.
- [137] MINGO-SION, A. M., MARIETTA, P. M., KOLLER, E., WOLF, D. M., and VAN DEN BERG, C. L., "Inhibition of JNK reduces G2/M transit independent of p53, leading to endoreduplication, decreased proliferation, and apoptosis in breast cancer cells.," *Oncogene*, vol. 23, pp. 596–604, Jan. 2004.
- [138] MOHAMED, M. M. and SLOANE, B. F., "Cysteine cathepsins: multifunctional enzymes in cancer.," *Nature reviews. Cancer*, vol. 6, pp. 764–775, Oct. 2006.
- [139] MOHANAM, S., JASTI, S. L., KONDRAGANTI, S. R., CHANDRASEKAR, N., LAKKA, S. S., KIN, Y., FULLER, G. N., YUNG, A. W., KYRITSIS, A. P., DINH, D. H., OLIVERO, W. C., GUJRATI, M., ALI-OSMAN, F., and RAO, J. S., "Down-regulation of cathepsin B expression impairs the invasive and tumorigenic potential of human glioblastoma cells.," *Oncogene*, vol. 20, pp. 3665– 3673, June 2001.
- [140] MOSSER, D. M. and EDWARDS, J. P., "Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation," *Nature Publishing Group*, vol. 8, pp. 958–969, Dec. 2008.
- [141] MUNDY, G. R., "Metastasis to bone: causes, consequences and therapeutic opportunities.," *Nature reviews. Cancer*, vol. 2, pp. 584–593, Aug. 2002.
- [142] N, H., AM, N., M, K., J, G., D, M., SF, A., CL, K., M, Y., J, R., TATALOVICH Z, M. A., DR, L., HS, C., and EJ, F., "SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2011," tech. rep., National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD.
- [143] NALLA, A. K., GORANTLA, B., GONDI, C. S., LAKKA, S. S., and RAO, J. S., "Targeting MMP-9, uPAR, and cathepsin B inhibits invasion, migration and activates apoptosis in prostate cancer cells.," *Cancer gene therapy*, vol. 17, pp. 599–613, Sept. 2010.
- [144] NANDY, A., GANGOPADHYAY, S., and MUKHOPADHYAY, A., "Individualizing breast cancer treatment-The dawn of personalized medicine.," *Experimental cell* research, vol. 320, pp. 1–11, Jan. 2014.

- [145] NAUMNIK, W., NIKLIŃSKA, W., OSSOLIŃSKA, M., and CHYCZEWSKA, E., "Serum cathepsin K and cystatin C concentration in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer during chemotherapy.," Folia histochemica et cytobiologica / Polish Academy of Sciences, Polish Histochemical and Cytochemical Society, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 207–213, 2009.
- [146] NERENZ, R. D., MARTOWICZ, M. L., and PIKE, J. W., "An enhancer 20 kilobases upstream of the human receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappaB ligand gene mediates dominant activation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3.," *Molecular* endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.), vol. 22, pp. 1044–1056, May 2008.
- [147] NICHOLSON, J. K., "Global systems biology, personalized medicine and molecular epidemiology.," *Molecular Systems Biology*, vol. 2, p. 52, 2006.
- [148] NISHIKAWA, H., OZAKI, Y., NAKANISHI, T., BLOMGREN, K., TADA, T., ARAKAWA, A., and SUZUMORI, K., "The role of cathepsin B and cystatin C in the mechanisms of invasion by ovarian cancer.," *Gynecologic oncology*, vol. 92, pp. 881–886, Mar. 2004.
- [149] NOVINEC, M., KOVACIC, L., LENARCIC, B., and BAICI, A., "Conformational flexibility and allosteric regulation of cathepsin K.," *The Biochemical journal*, vol. 429, pp. 379–389, July 2010.
- [150] OH, J., RIEK, A. E., WENG, S., PETTY, M., KIM, D., COLONNA, M., CELLA, M., and BERNAL-MIZRACHI, C., "Endoplasmic reticulum stress controls M2 macrophage differentiation and foam cell formation.," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 287, pp. 11629–11641, Apr. 2012.
- [151] OTTO, H.-H. and SCHIRMEISTER, T., "Cysteine Proteases and Their Inhibitors.," *Chemical reviews*, vol. 97, pp. 133–172, Feb. 1997.
- [152] PAGE, D. L., DUPONT, W. D., ROGERS, L. W., JENSEN, R. A., and SCHUYLER, P. A., "Continued local recurrence of carcinoma 15-25 years after a diagnosis of low grade ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast treated only by biopsy.," *Cancer*, vol. 76, pp. 1197–1200, Oct. 1995.
- [153] PAGE, D. L. and SIMPSON, J. F., "Ductal carcinoma in situ-the focus for prevention, screening, and breast conservation in breast cancer.," *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 340, pp. 1499–1500, May 1999.
- [154] PALERMO, C. and JOYCE, J. A., "Cysteine cathepsin proteases as pharmacological targets in cancer.," *Trends in pharmacological sciences*, vol. 29, pp. 22– 28, Jan. 2008.
- [155] PARK, K.-Y., LI, W. A., and PLATT, M. O., "Patient specific proteolytic activity of monocyte-derived macrophages and osteoclasts predicted with temporal kinase activation states during differentiation.," *Integrative biology : quantitative biosciences from nano to macro*, vol. 4, pp. 1459–1469, Nov. 2012.

- [156] PARKER, I. K., ROBERTS, L. M., HANSEN, L., GLEASON, R. L., SUTLIFF, R. L., and PLATT, M. O., "Pro-atherogenic shear stress and HIV proteins synergistically upregulate cathepsin K in endothelial cells.," *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 42, pp. 1185–1194, June 2014.
- [157] PLATT, M. O., ANKENY, R. F., and JO, H., "Laminar shear stress inhibits cathepsin L activity in endothelial cells.," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 26, pp. 1784–1790, Aug. 2006.
- [158] PLATT, M. O., ANKENY, R. F., SHI, G.-P., WEISS, D., VEGA, J. D., TAYLOR, W. R., and JO, H., "Expression of cathepsin K is regulated by shear stress in cultured endothelial cells and is increased in endothelium in human atherosclerosis.," *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology*, vol. 292, pp. H1479–86, Mar. 2007.
- [159] PLATT, M. O., WILDER, C. L., WELLS, A., GRIFFITH, L. G., and LAUF-FENBURGER, D. A., "Multipathway kinase signatures of multipotent stromal cells are predictive for osteogenic differentiation: tissue-specific stem cells.," *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)*, vol. 27, pp. 2804–2814, Nov. 2009.
- [160] PODGORSKI, I., LINEBAUGH, B. E., SAMENI, M., JEDESZKO, C., BHAGAT, S., CHER, M. L., and SLOANE, B. F., "Bone microenvironment modulates expression and activity of cathepsin B in prostate cancer.," *Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 7, pp. 207–223, Mar. 2005.
- [161] POLYAK, K. and MARUSYK, A., "Cancer: Clonal cooperation.," Nature, vol. 508, pp. 52–53, Apr. 2014.
- [162] QUINTANILLA-DIECK, M. J., CODRIANSKY, K., KEADY, M., BHAWAN, J., and RÜNGER, T. M., "Cathepsin K in melanoma invasion.," *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, vol. 128, pp. 2281–2288, Sept. 2008.
- [163] REISER, J., ADAIR, B., and REINHECKEL, T., "Specialized roles for cysteine cathepsins in health and disease.," *The Journal of clinical investigation*, vol. 120, pp. 3421–3431, Oct. 2010.
- [164] RODGERS, K. J., WATKINS, D. J., MILLER, A. L., CHAN, P. Y., KARANAM, S., BRISSETTE, W. H., LONG, C. J., and JACKSON, C. L., "Destabilizing role of cathepsin S in murine atherosclerotic plaques.," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis,* and Vascular Biology, vol. 26, pp. 851–856, Apr. 2006.
- [165] ROLAND, C. L., DINEEN, S. P., LYNN, K. D., SULLIVAN, L. A., DELLINGER, M. T., SADEGH, L., SULLIVAN, J. P., SHAMES, D. S., and BREKKEN, R. A., "Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor reduces angiogenesis and modulates immune cell infiltration of orthotopic breast cancer xenografts.," *Molecular cancer therapeutics*, vol. 8, pp. 1761–1771, July 2009.

- [166] ROLPH, M. S., ZIMMER, S., BOTTAZZI, B., GARLANDA, C., MANTOVANI, A., and HANSSON, G. K., "Production of the long pentraxin PTX3 in advanced atherosclerotic plaques.," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 22, pp. e10–4, May 2002.
- [167] ROODMAN, G. D., "Mechanisms of bone metastasis.," New England Journal of Medicine, vol. 350, pp. 1655–1664, Apr. 2004.
- [168] ROODMAN, G. D., "Regulation of osteoclast differentiation.," Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, vol. 1068, pp. 100–109, Apr. 2006.
- [169] Ross, R., "Atherosclerosis-an inflammatory disease.," New England Journal of Medicine, vol. 340, pp. 115–126, Jan. 1999.
- [170] SCHWENDE, H., FITZKE, E., AMBS, P., and DIETER, P., "Differences in the state of differentiation of THP-1 cells induced by phorbol ester and 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3.," *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, vol. 59, pp. 555–561, Apr. 1996.
- [171] SHI, G. P., CHAPMAN, H. A., BHAIRI, S. M., DELEEUW, C., REDDY, V. Y., and WEISS, S. J., "Molecular cloning of human cathepsin O, a novel endoproteinase and homologue of rabbit OC2.," *FEBS letters*, vol. 357, pp. 129– 134, Jan. 1995.
- [172] SHREE, T., OLSON, O. C., ELIE, B. T., KESTER, J. C., GARFALL, A. L., SIMPSON, K., BELL-MCGUINN, K. M., ZABOR, E. C., BROGI, E., and JOYCE, J. A., "Macrophages and cathepsin proteases blunt chemotherapeutic response in breast cancer.," *Genes & development*, vol. 25, pp. 2465–2479, Dec. 2011.
- [173] SICA, A. and BRONTE, V., "Altered macrophage differentiation and immune dysfunction in tumor development.," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 117, pp. 1155–1166, May 2007.
- [174] SICA, A. and MANTOVANI, A., "Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas.," *The Journal of clinical investigation*, vol. 122, pp. 787–795, Mar. 2012.
- [175] SICA, A., SCHIOPPA, T., MANTOVANI, A., and ALLAVENA, P., "Tumourassociated macrophages are a distinct M2 polarised population promoting tumour progression: potential targets of anti-cancer therapy.," *European journal* of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990), vol. 42, pp. 717–727, Apr. 2006.
- [176] SLOANE, B. F., DUNN, J. R., and HONN, K. V., "Lysosomal cathepsin B: correlation with metastatic potential.," *Science*, vol. 212, pp. 1151–1153, June 1981.

- [177] SLOANE, B. F., ROZHIN, J., HATFIELD, J. S., CRISSMAN, J. D., and HONN, K. V., "Plasma membrane-associated cysteine proteinases in human and animal tumors.," *Experimental cell biology*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 209–224, 1987.
- [178] SMALL, D. M., BURDEN, R. E., JAWORSKI, J., HEGARTY, S. M., SPENCE, S., BURROWS, J. F., MCFARLANE, C., KISSENPFENNIG, A., MCCARTHY, H. O., JOHNSTON, J. A., WALKER, B., and SCOTT, C. J., "Cathepsin S from both tumor and tumor-associated cells promote cancer growth and neovascularization.," *International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer*, vol. 133, pp. 2102–2112, Nov. 2013.
- [179] SMITH, R. A., SASLOW, D., SAWYER, K. A., BURKE, W., COSTANZA, M. E., EVANS, W. P., FOSTER, R. S., HENDRICK, E., EYRE, H. J., SENER, S., AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY HIGH-RISK WORK GROUP, AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY SCREENING OLDER WOMEN WORK GROUP, AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY MAMMOGRAPHY WORK GROUP, AMERICAN CANCER SO-CIETY PHYSICAL EXAMINATION WORK GROUP, AMERICAN CANCER SOCI-ETY NEW TECHNOLOGIES WORK GROUP, and AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY BREAST CANCER ADVISORY GROUP, "American Cancer Society guidelines for breast cancer screening: update 2003.," May 2003.
- [180] SOX, H., "Screening mammography for younger women: back to basics.," Annals of internal medicine, vol. 137, pp. 361–362, Sept. 2002.
- [181] STERLING, J. A., EDWARDS, J. R., MARTIN, T. J., and MUNDY, G. R., "Advances in the biology of bone metastasis: how the skeleton affects tumor behavior.," *Bone*, vol. 48, pp. 6–15, Jan. 2011.
- [182] STOCH, S. A., ZAJIC, S., STONE, J. A., MILLER, D. L., VAN BORTEL, L., LASSETER, K. C., PRAMANIK, B., CILISSEN, C., LIU, Q., LIU, L., SCOTT, B. B., PANEBIANCO, D., DING, Y., GOTTESDIENER, K., and WAGNER, J. A., "Odanacatib, a selective cathepsin K inhibitor to treat osteoporosis: safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics-results from single oral dose studies in healthy volunteers.," *British journal of clinical pharmacology*, vol. 75, pp. 1240–1254, May 2013.
- [183] SU, B., JACINTO, E., HIBI, M., KALLUNKI, T., KARIN, M., and BEN-NERIAH, Y., "JNK is involved in signal integration during costimulation of T lymphocytes.," *Cell*, vol. 77, pp. 727–736, June 1994.
- [184] SUKHOVA, G. K., SHI, G. P., SIMON, D. I., CHAPMAN, H. A., and LIBBY, P., "Expression of the elastolytic cathepsins S and K in human atheroma and regulation of their production in smooth muscle cells.," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 102, pp. 576–583, Aug. 1998.
- [185] SUKHOVA, G. K., ZHANG, Y., PAN, J.-H., WADA, Y., YAMAMOTO, T., NAITO, M., KODAMA, T., TSIMIKAS, S., WITZTUM, J. L., LU, M. L.,

SAKARA, Y., CHIN, M. T., LIBBY, P., and SHI, G.-P., "Deficiency of cathepsin S reduces atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice.," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 111, pp. 897–906, Mar. 2003.

- [186] SUN, J., SUKHOVA, G. K., ZHANG, J., CHEN, H., SJÖBERG, S., LIBBY, P., XIANG, M., WANG, J., PETERS, C., REINHECKEL, T., and SHI, G.-P., "Cathepsin L activity is essential to elastase perfusion-induced abdominal aortic aneurysms in mice.," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 31, pp. 2500–2508, Nov. 2011.
- [187] TEITELBAUM, S. L., "RANKing c-Jun in osteoclast development.," Journal of Clinical Investigation, vol. 114, pp. 463–465, Aug. 2004.
- [188] TEPEL, C., BRÖMME, D., HERZOG, V., and BRIX, K., "Cathepsin K in thyroid epithelial cells: sequence, localization and possible function in extracellular proteolysis of thyroglobulin.," *Journal of cell science*, vol. 113 Pt 24, pp. 4487–4498, Dec. 2000.
- [189] THOMAS, R. J., GUISE, T. A., YIN, J. J., ELLIOTT, J., HORWOOD, N. J., MARTIN, T. J., and GILLESPIE, M. T., "Breast cancer cells interact with osteoblasts to support osteoclast formation.," *Endocrinology*, vol. 140, pp. 4451– 4458, Oct. 1999.
- [190] TOPOL, E. J. and NISSEN, S. E., "Our preoccupation with coronary luminology. The dissociation between clinical and angiographic findings in ischemic heart disease.," *Circulation*, vol. 92, pp. 2333–2342, Oct. 1995.
- [191] TUMMINELLO, F. M., FLANDINA, C., CRESCIMANNO, M., and LETO, G., "Circulating cathepsin K and cystatin C in patients with cancer related bone disease: clinical and therapeutic implications.," *Biomedicine & pharmacother*apy = Biomédecine & pharmacothérapie, vol. 62, pp. 130–135, Feb. 2008.
- [192] TURK, B., TURK, D., and TURK, V., "Lysosomal cysteine proteases: more than scavengers.," *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, vol. 1477, pp. 98–111, Mar. 2000.
- [193] TURK, B., "Targeting proteases: successes, failures and future prospects.," *Nature reviews. Drug discovery*, vol. 5, pp. 785–799, Sept. 2006.
- [194] TURK, V., TURK, B., and TURK, D., "Lysosomal cysteine proteases: facts and opportunities.," *The EMBO journal*, vol. 20, pp. 4629–4633, Sept. 2001.
- [195] VAN DER GREEF, J., HANKEMEIER, T., and MCBURNEY, R. N., "Metabolomics-based systems biology and personalized medicine: moving towards n = 1 clinical trials?," *Pharmacogenomics*, vol. 7, pp. 1087–1094, Oct. 2006.

- [196] VASILJEVA, O., DOLINAR, M., PUNGERCAR, J. R., TURK, V., and TURK, B., "Recombinant human procathepsin S is capable of autocatalytic processing at neutral pH in the presence of glycosaminoglycans.," *FEBS letters*, vol. 579, pp. 1285–1290, Feb. 2005.
- [197] VASILJEVA, O., PAPAZOGLOU, A., KRÜGER, A., BRODOEFEL, H., KOROVIN, M., DEUSSING, J., AUGUSTIN, N., NIELSEN, B. S., ALMHOLT, K., BOGYO, M., PETERS, C., and REINHECKEL, T., "Tumor cell-derived and macrophagederived cathepsin B promotes progression and lung metastasis of mammary cancer.," *Cancer research*, vol. 66, pp. 5242–5250, May 2006.
- [198] VASILJEVA, O., REINHECKEL, T., PETERS, C., TURK, D., TURK, V., and TURK, B., "Emerging roles of cysteine cathepsins in disease and their potential as drug targets.," *Current pharmaceutical design*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 387–403, 2007.
- [199] VASILJEVA, O. and TURK, B., "Dual contrasting roles of cysteine cathepsins in cancer progression: apoptosis versus tumour invasion.," *Biochimie*, vol. 90, pp. 380–386, Feb. 2008.
- [200] WANG, B., SUN, J., KITAMOTO, S., YANG, M., GRUBB, A., CHAPMAN, H. A., KALLURI, R., and SHI, G.-P., "Cathepsin S controls angiogenesis and tumor growth via matrix-derived angiogenic factors.," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 281, pp. 6020–6029, Mar. 2006.
- [201] WHITMARSH, A., SHORE, P., SHARROCKS, A., and DAVIS, R., "Integration of MAP kinase signal transduction pathways at the serum response element," *Science*, vol. 269, pp. 403–407, July 1995.
- [202] WILDER, C. L., PARK, K.-Y., KEEGAN, P. M., and PLATT, M. O., "Manipulating substrate and pH in zymography protocols selectively distinguishes cathepsins K, L, S, and V activity in cells and tissues," *Archives of Biochemistry* and Biophysics, vol. 516, pp. 52–57, Dec. 2011.
- [203] WITHANA, N. P., BLUM, G., SAMENI, M., SLANEY, C., ANBALAGAN, A., OLIVE, M. B., BIDWELL, B. N., EDGINGTON, L., WANG, L., MOIN, K., SLOANE, B. F., ANDERSON, R. L., BOGYO, M. S., and PARKER, B. S., "Cathepsin B inhibition limits bone metastasis in breast cancer.," *Cancer re*search, vol. 72, pp. 1199–1209, Mar. 2012.
- [204] WU, D., WANG, H., LI, Z., WANG, L., ZHENG, F., JIANG, J., GAO, Y., ZHONG, H., HUANG, Y., and SUO, Z., "Cathepsin B may be a potential biomarker in cervical cancer.," *Histology and histopathology*, vol. 27, pp. 79–87, Jan. 2012.
- [205] WU, Y., GARMIRE, L. X., and FAN, R., "Inter-cellular signaling network reveals a mechanistic transition in tumor microenvironment.," *Integrative biology* : quantitative biosciences from nano to macro, Oct. 2012.

- [206] XIA, L., KILB, J., WEX, H., LI, Z., LIPYANSKY, A., BREUIL, V., STEIN, L., PALMER, J. T., DEMPSTER, D. W., and BRÖMME, D., "Localization of rat cathepsin K in osteoclasts and resorption pits: inhibition of bone resorption and cathepsin K-activity by peptidyl vinyl sulfones.," *Biological chemistry*, vol. 380, pp. 679–687, June 1999.
- [207] YANG, Y., YIXUAN, Y., LIM, S.-K., KIAT, L. S., CHOONG, L.-Y., YEE, C. L., LEE, H., HUIYIN, L., CHEN, Y., YUNHAO, C., CHONG, P.-K., KUAN, C. P., ASHKTORAB, H., HASSAN, A., WANG, T. T., TING, W. T., SALTO-TELLEZ, M., MANUEL, S.-T., YEOH, K.-G., GUAN, Y. K., LIM, Y.-P., and PIN, L. Y., "Cathepsin S mediates gastric cancer cell migration and invasion via a putative network of metastasis-associated proteins.," *Journal of proteome research*, vol. 9, pp. 4767–4778, Sept. 2010.
- [208] YASUDA, Y., LI, Z., GREENBAUM, D., BOGYO, M., WEBER, E., and BRÖMME, D., "Cathepsin V, a novel and potent elastolytic activity expressed in activated macrophages.," *The Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 279, pp. 36761–36770, Aug. 2004.
- [209] YOELI-LERNER, M., YIU, G. K., RABINOVITZ, I., ERHARDT, P., JAU-LIAC, S., and TOKER, A., "Akt blocks breast cancer cell motility and invasion through the transcription factor NFAT.," *Molecular cell*, vol. 20, pp. 539–550, Nov. 2005.
- [210] ZHAO, B., HEMANN, M. T., and LAUFFENBURGER, D. A., "Intratumor heterogeneity alters most effective drugs in designed combinations.," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, July 2014.
- [211] ZHENG, G., MARTIGNONI, G., ANTONESCU, C., MONTGOMERY, E., EBER-HART, C., NETTO, G., TAUBE, J., WESTRA, W., EPSTEIN, J. I., LOTAN, T., MAITRA, A., GABRIELSON, E., TORBENSON, M., IACOBUZIO-DONAHUE, C., DEMARZO, A., SHIH, I. M., ILLEI, P., WU, T. C., and ARGANI, P., "A broad survey of cathepsin K immunoreactivity in human neoplasms.," *American journal of clinical pathology*, vol. 139, pp. 151–159, Feb. 2013.